
A N N U A L  R E P O R T
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Q U A L I T Y .  P E R F O R M A N C E .  D E P E N D A B I L I T Y .

component 
excellence



We reduced 
our debt 

$21 million 
during 

the year, 
resulting 

in a strong 
debt-to-

equity ratio 
of 29%.

2011  began with significant sales   
growth in the first quarter as the 

North American economy rebounded from an 
excessive pull back in demand that occurred in 
the latter part of 2010. Although the pace of 
sales improvement compared to the prior year 
slowed as the year progressed, we continued to 
increase the profitability of CompX. Significant 
activities of the year included the:

q	 Acquisition of a new Furniture Components 
ergonomic product line which takes us into the 
healthcare market specifically focused on assisting 
with increasing adoption of electronic healthcare 
records by facilitating access to those records at the 
point healthcare professionals interact with patients. 

q	 Continued steady increase in the results of our 
Security Products segment with a 10% growth in 
operating income on a 5% growth in sales as new 
products gained acceptance in the marketplace.

q	 Lowering of our cost structure by reducing the 
footprint of our Furniture Components manufacturing 
operations from three facilities to two in order to 
better align capacity with demand, improving the 
profitability of the remaining two facilities through 
better utilization. 

q	 Diversifying of Marine segment sales through 
penetration of several new products into the 
broader industry beyond the struggling performance 
powerboat market.

One of the strengths of our organization is 
the quality of the people within each of our 
segments. This was evident during the year as 
the operations maintained a relentless focus on 
margins during the year and achieved a healthy 
25% gross margin despite the cost pressures 
associated with the facility consolidation, a 
weaker US dollar and volatile commodity raw 
material costs.

We generated $16 million in cash from 
operations which easily supported a direct return 
to our investors through the payment of our 29th 
consecutive quarterly dividend. Additionally, we 
strengthened our balance sheet. We reduced 
our debt $21 million during the year, aided by 
a favorable litigation settlement, resulting in a 
strong debt-to-equity ratio of 29%. 

Heading into 2012 with the prospect of growing 
our sales through product line expansion, a 
more efficient cost structure and prospects for 
an improving economy in the markets we serve, 
we expect the year to provide opportunity for 
continued growth in our results to the further 
benefit of our stockholders.

Cash Flow
from Operations

Sales (in millions) Gross Margin %

Sales & Gross Margin

EBITDA

EBITDA (in millions) EBITDA Margin %
* Excludes goodwill charge

David A. Bowers 
President and Chief Executive Officer
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As of February 27, 2012, 2,386,107 shares of Class A common stock were outstanding. 
 
Documents incorporated by reference  
 
The information required by Part III is incorporate d by reference from the 
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PART I 
 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 
  
General 
 

CompX International Inc. (NYSE Amex: CIX), incorpor ated in Delaware in 1993, 
is a leading manufacturer of security products, pre cision ball bearing slides and 
ergonomic computer support systems used in the offi ce furniture, transportation, 
postal, tool storage, appliance and a variety of ot her industries.  We are also a 
leading manufacturer of stainless steel exhaust sys tems, gauges, and throttle 
controls for the performance marine industry. Our p roducts are principally designed 
for use in medium to high-end product applications,  where design, quality and 
durability are valued by our customers.   

 
At December 31, 2011, (i) NL Industries, Inc. (NYSE : NL) owned 87% of our 

outstanding common stock; (ii) Valhi, Inc. (NYSE: V HI) holds approximately 83% of 
NL’s outstanding common stock; and (iii) subsidiari es of Contran Corporation hold 
approximately 95% of Valhi's outstanding common sto ck. Substantially all of 
Contran's outstanding voting stock is held by trust s established for the benefit of 
certain children and grandchildren of Harold C. Sim mons, (for which Mr. Simmons is 
sole trustee) or is held directly by Mr. Simmons or  other persons or entities 
related to Mr. Simmons.  Consequently, Mr. Simmons may be deemed to control each of 
these companies and us.   
 

Our corporate offices are located at Three Lincoln Centre, 5430 LBJ Freeway, 
Suite 1700, Dallas, Texas 75240.  Our telephone num ber is (972) 448-1400.  We maintain 
a website at www.compx.com . 
 

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this repo rt to “we,” “us,” or “our” 
refer to CompX International Inc. and its subsidiar ies taken as a whole. 

 
Forward-Looking Statements 
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-lo oking statements within the 
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform  Act of 1995, as 
amended.  Statements in this Annual Report that are  not historical facts are forward-
looking in nature and represent management’s belief s and assumptions based on 
currently available information.  In some cases, yo u can identify forward-looking 
statements by the use of words such as "believes," "intends," "may," "should," 
"could," "anticipates," "expects" or comparable ter minology, or by discussions of 
strategies or trends.  Although we believe that the  expectations reflected in such 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we do no t know if these expectations will 
be correct.  Such statements by their nature involv e substantial risks and 
uncertainties that could significantly impact expec ted results. Actual future results 
could differ materially from those predicted.  The factors that could cause actual 
future results to differ materially from those desc ribed herein are the risks and 
uncertainties discussed in this Annual Report and t hose described from time to time in 
our other filings with the U.S. Securities and Exch ange Commission (the “SEC) and 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
• Future demand for our products,  
• Changes in our raw material and other operating cos ts (such as steel and energy 

costs) and our ability to pass those costs on to ou r customers or offset them 
with reductions in other operating costs,  

• Demand for office furniture,  
• Price and product competition from low-cost manufac turing sources (such as 

China),  
• The impact of pricing and production decisions,  
• Customer and competitor strategies including substi tute products, 
• Uncertainties associated with the development of ne w product features,  
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• Fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar relati ve to other currencies (such 
as the Canadian dollar and New Taiwan dollar),  

• Future litigation, 
• Potential difficulties in integrating completed or future acquisitions,  
• Decisions to sell operating assets other than in th e ordinary course of 

business, 
• Environmental matters (such as those requiring emis sion and discharge standards 

for existing and new facilities), 
• Our ability to comply with covenants contained in o ur revolving bank credit 

facility,  
• The ultimate outcome of income tax audits, tax sett lement initiatives or other 

tax matters, 
• The impact of current or future government regulati ons (including employee 

healthcare benefit related regulations), 
• Potential difficulties in upgrading or implementing  new manufacturing and 

accounting software systems, 
• General global economic and political conditions (s uch as changes in the level 

of gross domestic product in various regions of the  world), 
• Operating interruptions (including, but not limited  to labor disputes, hazardous 

chemical leaks, natural disasters, fires, explosion s, unscheduled or unplanned 
downtime and transportation interruptions); and 

• Possible disruption of our business or increases in  the cost of doing business 
resulting from terrorist activities or global confl icts. 

 
Should one or more of these risks materialize or if  the consequences worsen, 

or if the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, a ctual results could differ 
materially from those currently forecasted or expec ted.  We disclaim any intention 
or obligation to update or revise any forward-looki ng statement whether as a result 
of changes in information, future events or otherwi se. 
 
Industry Overview 
 

We manufacture engineered components that are sold to a variety of industries 
including office furniture, recreational transporta tion (including boats), mailboxes, 
toolboxes, home appliances, banking equipment, vend ing equipment and computer related 
equipment.  While a significant portion of our sale s are to the office furniture 
market (32% in 2011 and 33% in each of 2010 and 200 9), we continuously seek to 
diversify into new markets and identify new applica tions and features for our 
products, which we believe provide a greater potent ial for higher rates of earnings 
growth as well as diversification of risk.  See als o Item 6 – "Selected Financial 
Data" and Item 7 – "Management's Discussion and Ana lysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations." 
 
Business Segments 
 

We currently have three operating business segments  – Security Products, 
Furniture Components and Marine Components.  For ad ditional information regarding 
our segments, see “Part II – Item 7. Management’s D iscussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and Note 2 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  
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Manufacturing, Operations, and Products 
 

Security Products .  Our Security Products segment, with one manufacturi ng 
facility in South Carolina and one in Illinois shar ed with Marine Components, 
manufactures mechanical and electronic cabinet lock s and other locking mechanisms 
used in a variety of applications including ignitio n systems, mailboxes, file 
cabinets, desk drawers, tool storage cabinets, vend ing and gaming machines, high 
security medical cabinetry, electrical circuit pane ls, storage compartments and gas 
station security. We believe we are a North America n market leader in the 
manufacture and sale of cabinet locks and other loc king mechanisms.  These products 
include: 

  
• disc tumbler locks which provide moderate security and generally represent the 

lowest cost lock to produce; 
• pin tumbler locking mechanisms which are more costl y to produce and are used 

in applications requiring higher levels of security , including KeSet® and  
System 64  (which each allow the user to change the keying on  a single lock 64 
times without removing the lock from its enclosure) and TuBar® ; and  

• our innovative eLock and StealthLock electronic loc ks which provide stand 
alone or networked security and audit trail capabil ity for drug storage and 
other valuables through the use of a proximity card , magnetic stripe or keypad 
credentials. 

 
A substantial portion of our Security Products’ sal es consist of products with 

specialized adaptations to an individual customer’s  specifications, some of which 
are listed above.  We also have a standardized prod uct line suitable for many 
customers, which is offered through a North America n distribution network to lock 
distributors and smaller original equipment manufac turers (“OEMs”) via our STOCK 
LOCKS® distribution program.  

 
Furniture Components .  Our Furniture Components segment, with facilitie s in 

Canada and Taiwan, manufactures a complete line of precision ball bearing slides and 
computer keyboard, monitor and CPU support systems for use in applications such as 
file cabinets, desks, computer server racks, wall m ounted computer applications, 
home appliances, tool storage cabinets, imaging equ ipment, automated teller machines 
and other applications.  These products are manufac tured to customer specifications 
and include: 
 

• our patented Integrated Slide Lock  which allows a file cabinet manufacturer to 
reduce the possibility of multiple drawers being op ened at the same time; 

• our patented adjustable Ball Lock  which reduces the risk of heavily-filled 
drawers, such as mechanic toolboxes, from opening w hile in movement; 

• our Self-Closing Slide , which is designed to assist in closing a drawer a nd is 
used in applications such as bottom mount freezers;  

• articulating computer keyboard support arms (design ed to attach to desks in 
the workplace and home office environments to allev iate possible user strains 
and stress and maximize usable workspace), along wi th our patented LeverLock  
keyboard arm, which is designed to make ergonomic a djustments to the keyboard 
arm easier; 

• CPU storage devices which minimize adverse effects of dust and moisture on 
desktop computers;  

• flat panel computer monitor support systems designe d to support one to eight 
screens which can be adjusted for tilt, swing and r otation to enable 
achievement of the correct ergonomic position; and 

• keyboard, monitor and CPU wall mounts that retract against a wall for use in 
healthcare environments such as hospital rooms wher e healthcare professionals 
need access to technology that can be recessed agai nst a wall when not in use. 

 
Marine Components .  Our Marine Components segment, with a facility in 

Wisconsin and a facility shared with Security Produ cts in Illinois, manufactures and 
distributes stainless steel exhaust components, gau ges, throttle controls, hardware 
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and accessories primarily for performance and ski/w akeboard boats.  Our specialty 
Marine Component products are high precision compon ents designed to operate within 
tight tolerances in the highly demanding marine env ironment.  These products 
include: 
 

• original equipment and aftermarket stainless steel exhaust headers, exhaust 
pipes, mufflers and other exhaust components; 

• high performance gauges such as GPS speedometers an d tachometers; 
• controls, throttles, steering wheels and other bill et aluminum  

accessories; and 
• dash panels, LED lighting, rigging and other access ories. 

 
Our business segments operated five manufacturing f acilities at December 31, 

2011. For additional information, see also “Item 2 – Properties”, including 
information regarding leased and distribution-only facilities. 
 

Security Products   Furniture Components   Marine Components  
Mauldin, SC 
Grayslake, IL 
 

 Kitchener, Ontario 
Taipei, Taiwan 

 Neenah, WI 
Grayslake, IL 

 
Raw Materials 
 

Our primary raw materials are: 
 

• coiled steel (used in the Furniture Components segm ent for the manufacture of 
precision ball bearing slides and ergonomic compute r support systems); 

• zinc and brass (used in the Security Products segme nt for the manufacture of 
locking mechanisms); 

• stainless steel (used primarily in the Marine Compo nents segment for the 
manufacture of exhaust headers and pipes and other components); and 

• plastic resins (used primarily in the Furniture Com ponents segment for 
injection molded plastics employed in the manufactu ring of ergonomic computer 
support systems). 

 
These raw materials are purchased from several supp liers, are readily 

available from numerous sources and accounted for a pproximately 18% of our total 
cost of sales for 2011. 
 

We occasionally enter into short-term supply arrang ements for our commodity 
related raw materials to mitigate the impact of fut ure increases in raw material 
prices that are affected by commodity markets.  The se arrangements generally provide 
for stated unit prices based upon specified purchas e volumes, which helps us stabilize 
our commodity related raw material costs to a certa in extent. Commodity related raw 
materials purchased outside of these arrangements a re sometimes subject to 
unanticipated and sudden price increases. We genera lly seek to mitigate the impact of 
fluctuations in these raw material costs on our mar gins through improvements in 
production efficiencies or other operating cost red uctions.  In the event we are 
unable to offset raw material cost increases with o ther cost reductions, it may be 
difficult to recover those cost increases through i ncreased product selling prices or 
raw material surcharges due to the competitive natu re of the markets served by our 
products.  Consequently, overall operating margins can be affected by commodity 
related raw material cost pressures.  Commodity mar ket prices are cyclical, reflecting 
overall economic trends, specific developments in c onsuming industries and speculative 
investor activities. 

 
Patents and Trademarks 
 

We hold a number of patents relating to our compone nt products, certain of which 
are believed to be important to us and our continui ng business activity.  Patents 
generally have a term of 20 years, and our patents have remaining terms ranging from  
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less than one year to 11 years at December 31, 2011 .  Our major trademarks and brand 
names include: 
 

Security Products        Furniture Components     Marine Components     
CompX® Security Products™     CompX® Precision Slides   Custom Marine® 
National Cabinet Lock™ 
Fort Lock™ 
Fort® 
Timberline® 
Chicago Lock™ 
STOCK LOCKS™ 
KeSet® 
TuBar™ 
StealthLock® 
ACE® 
ACE® II 
CompX eLock®  
Lockview® Software 
System 64®  

 CompX® Waterloo™  
CompX ErgonomX®  
Dynaslide™ 
Waterloo Furniture 
  Components Limited™ 
WFC™ 
 

 Livorsi ® Marine 
Livorsi II ® Marine 
CMI™ Industrial 
  Mufflers 
Custom Marine™ 
  Stainless Exhaust 
The #1 Choice in 
  Performance Boating® 
Mega Rim®  
Race Rim®  
CompX Marine® 
 

     

 
Sales, Marketing and Distribution. 

 
A majority of our component sales are direct to lar ge OEM customers through 

our factory-based sales and marketing professionals  supported by engineers working 
in concert with field salespeople and independent m anufacturers' representatives. We 
select manufacturers' representatives based on spec ial skills in certain markets or 
relationships with current or potential customers. 
 

A significant portion of our Security Products sale s are made through 
distributors.  We have a significant North American  market share of cabinet lock 
security product sales as a result of the locksmith  distribution channel.  We 
support our locksmith distributor sales with a line  of standardized products used by 
the largest segments of the marketplace. These prod ucts are packaged and 
merchandised for easy availability and handling by distributors and end users.   

 
A significant portion of our Furniture Component er gonomic product sales are 

made through value-added resellers and distributors .  Value-added resellers 
generally provide services to end-customers in addi tion to those of a distributor, 
such as installation services or packaging our prod ucts with other products.  We 
support our ergonomic value-added resellers by prov iding them with products that may 
be customized or packaged to meet their needs.  We support our ergonomic distributor 
sales with a line of standardized products used by the largest segments of the 
marketplace. These products are packaged and mercha ndised for easy availability and 
handling by distributors and end users. 
 

In 2011, our ten largest customers accounted for ap proximately 37% of our 
total sales; however, no one customer accounted for  more than 10% of our sales.  Of 
the 37% of total sales, 15% related to three Securi ty Products customers, 9% related 
to four Furniture Components customers and 13% rela ted to three customers in both of 
our Security Products and Furniture Components segm ents.  Overall, our customer base 
is diverse and the loss of any single customer woul d not in itself have a material 
adverse effect on our operations. 
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Competition 
 

The markets in which we participate are highly comp etitive.  We compete 
primarily on the basis of product design, including  ergonomic and aesthetic factors, 
product quality and durability, price, on-time deli very, service and technical 
support.  We focus our efforts on the middle and hi gh-end segments of the market, 
where product design, quality, durability and servi ce are valued by the customer.  
Our Security Products and Furniture Components segm ents compete against a number of  
domestic and foreign manufacturers.  Our Marine Com ponents segment competes with 
small domestic manufacturers and is minimally affec ted by foreign competitors.   
 
International Operations  
 

We have substantial operations and assets located o utside the United States, 
principally Furniture Component operations in Canad a and Taiwan.  The majority of our 
2011 non-U.S. sales are to customers located in Can ada.  These operations are subject 
to, among other things, currency exchange rate fluc tuations.  Our results of 
operations have in the past been both favorably and  unfavorably affected by 
fluctuations in currency exchange rates.  Political  and economic uncertainties in 
certain of the countries in which we operate may ex pose us to risk of loss.  We do not 
believe that there is currently any likelihood of m aterial loss through political or 
economic instability, seizure, nationalization or a  similar event.  We cannot predict, 
however, whether events of this type in the future could have a material adverse 
effect on our operations.  See Item 7 - "Management 's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations," Ite m 7A – "Quantitative and 
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" and Note  1 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 
 
Regulatory and Environmental Matters 
 

Our operations are subject to federal, state, local  and foreign laws and 
regulations relating to the use, storage, handling,  generation, transportation, 
treatment, emission, discharge, disposal, remediati on of and exposure to hazardous 
and non-hazardous substances, materials and wastes ("Environmental Laws").  Our 
operations also are subject to federal, state, loca l and foreign laws and 
regulations relating to worker health and safety.  We believe we are in substantial 
compliance with all such laws and regulations.  To date, the costs of maintaining 
compliance with such laws and regulations have not significantly impacted our 
results.  We currently do not anticipate any signif icant costs or expenses relating 
to such matters; however, it is possible future law s and regulations may require us 
to incur significant additional expenditures. 

 
Employees 
 

As of December 31, 2011, we employed the following number of people: 
 

United States 457 
Canada (1)  254 
Taiwan  83  
     Total 794  
  

 
 

(1)  Approximately 74% of our Canadian employees ar e represented by a labor 
union covered by a collective bargaining agreement.   A new collective 
bargaining agreement, providing for wage increases from 1% to 2%, was 
ratified in January 2012 and expires January 2015.   

 
We believe our labor relations are good at all of o ur facilities. 

 
Available Information 
 

Our fiscal year end is always the Sunday closest to  December 31, and our 
operations are reported on a 52 or 53-week fiscal y ear.  We furnish our stockholders 
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with annual reports containing audited financial st atements.  In addition, we file 
annual, quarterly and current reports; proxy and in formation statements; and other 
information with the SEC.  We also make our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly 
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K a nd all related amendments, 
available free of charge through our website at www .compx.com  as soon as reasonably 
practical after they have been filed with the SEC.  We also provide to anyone, without 
charge, copies of the documents upon written reques t.  Requests should be directed to 
the attention of the Corporate Secretary at our add ress on the cover page of this Form 
10-K. 

 
Additional information, including our Audit Committ ee Charter, our Code of 

Business Conduct and Ethics and our Corporate Gover nance Guidelines, can also be found 
on our website.  Information contained on our websi te is not a part of this Annual 
Report. 

 
The general public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the 

SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F. Street, NE, W ashington, DC 20549.  The public 
may obtain information on the operation of the Publ ic Reference Room by calling the 
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.  We are an electronic filer.   The SEC maintains an Internet 
website at www.sec.gov  that contains reports, proxy and information state ments and 
other information regarding issuers, such as us, th at file electronically with the 
SEC. 
 
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS  
 

Listed below are certain risk factors associated wi th us and our businesses.  
In addition to the potential effect of these risk f actors discussed below, any risk 
factor which could result in reduced earnings or op erating losses, or reduced 
liquidity, could in turn adversely affect our abili ty to service our liabilities or 
pay dividends on our common stock or adversely affe ct the quoted market prices for 
our securities. 
 
Many of the markets in which we operate are mature and highly competitive resulting 
in pricing pressure and the need to continuously re duce costs.    

 
Many of the markets we serve are highly competitive , with a number of 

competitors offering similar products.  We focus ou r efforts on the middle and high-
end segment of the market where we feel that we can  compete due to the importance of 
product design, quality and durability to the custo mer.  However, our ability to 
effectively compete is impacted by a number of fact ors.  The occurrence of any of 
these factors could result in reduced earnings or o perating losses.   
 

• Competitors may be able to drive down prices for ou r products beyond our 
ability to adjust costs because their costs are low er than ours, especially 
products sourced from Asia. 

• Competitors' financial, technological and other res ources may be greater than 
our resources, which may enable them to more effect ively withstand changes in 
market conditions.   

• Competitors may be able to respond more quickly tha n we can to new or emerging 
technologies and changes in customer requirements.   

• Consolidation of our competitors or customers in an y of the markets in which 
we compete may result in reduced demand for our pro ducts.   

• New competitors could emerge by modifying their exi sting production facilities 
to manufacture products that compete with our produ cts.   

• We may not be able to sustain a cost structure that  enables us to be 
competitive. 

• Customers may no longer value our product design, q uality or durability over 
the lower cost products of our competitors. 
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Sales for certain precision slides and ergonomic pr oducts are concentrated in the 
office furniture market, which has periodically exp erienced significant reductions 
in demand that could result in reduced earnings or operating losses .  
 

Sales of our products to the office furniture marke t accounted for 
approximately 32% in 2011 and 33% in each of 2010 a nd 2009 of our total net sales.  
The future growth, if any, of the office furniture market will be affected by a 
variety of macroeconomic factors, such as service i ndustry employment levels, 
corporate cash flows and non-residential commercial  construction, as well as 
industry factors such as corporate reengineering an d restructuring, technology 
demands, ergonomic, health and safety concerns and corporate relocations. There can 
be no assurance that current or future economic or industry trends will not have a 
material adverse affect on our business. 
 
Our failure to enter into new markets would result in the continued significant 
impact of fluctuations in office furniture market d emand on our operating results.  
 

In an effort to reduce our dependence on the office  furniture market for 
certain products and to increase our participation in other markets, we have been 
devoting resources to identify new customers and de velop new applications for our 
products in markets outside of the office furniture  market, such as home appliances, 
toolboxes, healthcare and server racks.  Additional ly, we seek to expand our product 
offering and enter new markets through acquisitions .  Developing new applications 
for our products or acquiring new products through acquisitions involves substantial 
risk and uncertainties due to our limited experienc e with customers and applications 
in these markets as well as facing competitors who are already established in these 
markets.  We may not be successful in developing ne w customers or applications for 
our products or acquiring new product lines focused  on markets outside of the office 
furniture industry.  Significant time may be requir ed to develop new applications 
and complete acquisitions and uncertainty exists as  to the extent to which we will 
face competition in this regard. 
 
Our development of innovative features for current products is critical to 
sustaining and growing our sales.    

 
Historically, our ability to provide value-added cu stom engineered products 

that address requirements of technology and space u tilization has been a key element 
of our success.  We spend a significant amount of t ime and effort to refine, improve 
and adapt our existing products for new customers a nd applications.  Since 
expenditures for these types of activities are not considered research and 
development expense under accounting principles gen erally accepted in the United 
States of America (“GAAP”), the amount of our resea rch and development expenditures, 
which is not significant, is not indicative of the overall effort involved in the 
development of new product features.  The introduct ion of new product features 
requires the coordination of the design, manufactur ing and marketing of the new 
product features with current and potential custome rs.  The ability to coordinate 
these activities with current and potential custome rs may be affected by factors 
beyond our control.  While we will continue to emph asize the introduction of 
innovative new product features that target custome r-specific opportunities, there 
can be no assurance that any new product features w e introduce will achieve the same 
degree of success that we have achieved with our ex isting products.  Introduction of 
new product features typically requires us to incre ase production volume on a timely 
basis while maintaining product quality.  Manufactu rers often encounter difficulties 
in increasing production volumes, including delays,  quality control problems and 
shortages of qualified personnel or raw materials.  As we attempt to introduce new 
product features in the future, there can be no ass urance that we will be able to 
increase production volume without encountering the se or other problems, which might 
negatively impact our financial condition or result s of operations. 
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Recent and future acquisitions could subject us to a number of operational risks. 

 
A key component of our strategy is to grow and dive rsify our business through 

acquisitions.  Our ability to successfully execute this component of our strategy 
entails a number of risks, including: 

 
• the identification of suitable growth opportunities ; 
• an inaccurate assessment of acquired liabilities th at were undisclosed or not 

properly disclosed; 
• the entry into markets in which we may have limited  or no experience; 
• the diversion of management’s attention from our co re businesses; 
• the potential loss of key employees or customers of  the acquired businesses; 
• the potential of not identifying that acquired prod ucts infringe on the 

intellectual property rights of others; 
• difficulties in realizing projected efficiencies, s ynergies and cost savings; 

and 
• an increase in our indebtedness and a limitation in  our ability to access 

additional capital when needed. 
 
Higher costs of our commodity related raw materials  may decrease our liquidity.   

 
Certain of the raw materials used in our products a re commodities that are 

subject to significant fluctuations in price in res ponse to world-wide supply and 
demand as well as speculative investor activity.  C oiled steel is the major raw 
material used in the manufacture of precision ball bearing slides and ergonomic 
computer support systems.  Plastic resins for injec tion molded plastics are also an 
integral material for ergonomic computer support sy stems.  Zinc and brass are the 
principal raw materials used in the manufacture of security products.  Stainless 
steel tubing is the major raw material used in the manufacture of marine exhaust 
systems.  These raw materials are purchased from se veral suppliers and are generally 
readily available from numerous sources.  We occasi onally enter into short-term raw 
material supply arrangements to mitigate the impact  of future increases in commodity 
raw material costs.  Materials purchased outside of  these arrangements are sometimes 
subject to unanticipated and sudden price increases .  Should our vendors not be able 
to meet their contractual obligations or should we be otherwise unable to obtain 
necessary raw materials, we may incur higher costs for raw materials or may be 
required to reduce production levels, either of whi ch may decrease our liquidity as 
we may be unable to offset the higher costs with in creases in our selling prices or 
reductions in other operating costs. 

 
Failure to protect our intellectual property rights  or claims by others that we 
infringe their intellectual property rights could s ubstantially harm our business.  
 

We rely on patent, trademark and trade secret laws in the United States and 
similar laws in other countries to establish and ma intain our intellectual property 
rights in our technology and designs.  Despite thes e measures, any of our 
intellectual property rights could be challenged, i nvalidated, circumvented or 
misappropriated.  Others may independently discover  our trade secrets and 
proprietary information, and in such cases we could  not assert any trade secret 
rights against such parties.  Further, there can be  no assurance that any of our 
pending trademark or patent applications will be ap proved.  Costly and time-
consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our 
intellectual property rights.  In addition, the law s of certain countries do not 
protect intellectual property rights to the same ex tent as the laws of the United 
States.  Therefore, in certain jurisdictions, we ma y be unable to protect our 
technology and designs adequately against unauthori zed third party use, which could 
adversely affect our competitive position. 
 

Third parties may claim that we or our customers ar e infringing upon their 
intellectual property rights.  Even if we believe t hat such claims are without 
merit, they can be time-consuming and costly to def end and distract our management’s 
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and technical staff’s attention and resources.  Cla ims of intellectual property 
infringement also might require us to redesign affe cted technology, enter into 
costly settlement or license agreements or pay cost ly damage awards, or face a 
temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us fr om marketing or selling certain 
of our technology.  If we cannot or do not license the infringed technology on 
reasonable pricing terms or at all, or substitute s imilar technology from another 
source, our business could be adversely impacted. 
 

Global climate change legislation could negatively impact our financial results or 
limit our ability to operate our businesses.   

We operate production facilities in several countri es (the United States, 
Canada and Taiwan), and we believe all of our world wide production facilities are in 
substantial compliance with applicable environmenta l laws.  In many of the countries 
in which we operate, legislation has been passed, o r proposed legislation is being 
considered, to limit green house gases through vari ous means, including emissions 
permits and/or energy taxes.   To date the climate change legislation in effect in 
the various countries in which we operate has not h ad a material adverse effect on 
our financial results.  However, if green house gas  legislation were to be enacted 
in one or more countries, it could negatively impac t our future results from 
operations through increased costs of production, p articularly as it relates to our 
energy requirements. If such increased costs of pro duction were to materialize, we 
may be unable to pass price increases onto our cust omers to compensate for increased 
production costs, which may decrease our liquidity,  operating income and results of 
operations.  
 
ITEM 1B .  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
 
 

None. 
 



- 13 - 
 

 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 
 
 

Our principal executive offices are located in leas ed space at 5430 LBJ 
Freeway, Dallas, Texas  75240.  The following table  sets forth the location, size, 
business operating segment and general product type s produced for each of our 
operating facilities.   
 
 

 
Facility Name  

 
Business 
Segment  

 
 

Location  

Size 
(square 

feet)  

 
Products Produced/ 

Distributed  
     
Owned Facilities :     
     
  Waterloo (1)  FC Kitchener, Ontario 276,000 Slides/ergonomic pro ducts 
     
  National (1)  SP Mauldin, SC 198,000 Security products 
     
  Grayslake (1)  SP/MC Grayslake, IL 120,000 Security products/ mar ine 

 products 
     
  Custom (2)  MC Neenah, WI 95,000 Marine products 
     
  Dynaslide (2)  FC Taipei, Taiwan 38,400 Slides 
     
     
Leased Facilities :     
     
  Dynaslide FC Taipei, Taiwan 38,400 Slides 
     
  Dynaslide FC Taipei, Taiwan 36,000 Slides 
     
  Distribution Center SP/FC/MC Rancho Cucamonga, CA  11,500 Security products/ ergonomic 

 products/ marine products 
     
SP – Security Products business segment 
FC – Furniture Components business segment 
MC – Marine Components business segment 
(1) ISO-9001 registered facilities 
(2)   ISO-9002 registered facilities 
 

We believe all of our facilities are well maintaine d and satisfactory for their 
intended purposes.   
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 

We are involved, from time to time, in various envi ronmental, contractual, 
product liability, patent (or intellectual property ) and other claims and disputes 
incidental to our business.  See Note 13 to the Con solidated Financial Statements.  
We currently believe that the disposition of all cl aims and disputes, individually 
or in the aggregate, should not have a material adv erse effect on our consolidated 
financial condition, results of operations or liqui dity. 

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 
 
 Not applicable. 
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PART II 
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
 

Common Stock and Dividends. Our Class A common stock is listed and traded on 
the NYSE Amex LLC (symbol: CIX).  As of February 27 , 2012, there were approximately 
18 holders of record of CompX Class A common stock.   The following table sets forth 
the high and low closing sales prices per share for  our Class A common stock for the 
periods indicated, according to Bloomberg, and divi dends paid during each period.  
On February 27, 2012, the closing price per share o f our Class A common stock was 
$17.18. 
 
  

   High    
 

   Low    
Dividends 

   paid    
    
Year ended December 31, 2010    
    
  First Quarter $ 9.30 $7.19 $.125 
  Second Quarter 14.75 9.21 .125 
  Third Quarter 13.80 9.14 .125 
  Fourth Quarter 12.12 9.67 .125 
    
Year ended December 31, 2011     
    
  First Quarter $16.25 $11.50 $.125 
  Second Quarter 15.94 11.75 .125 
  Third Quarter 14.73 12.30 .125 
  Fourth Quarter 16.40 12.50 .125 
    
January 1, 2012 through February  27, 2012  $17.51 $15.12  $  -   
    
 

We paid regular quarterly dividends of $.125 per sh are during 2010 and 2011.  In 
February of 2012, our board of directors declared a  first quarter 2012 dividend of 
$.125 per share, to be paid on March 20, 2012 to Co mpX stockholders of record as of 
March 8, 2012.  However, declaration and payment of  future dividends and the amount 
thereof, if any, is discretionary and is dependent upon our results of operations, 
financial condition, cash requirements for our busi nesses, contractual requirements 
and restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors.  The 
amount and timing of past dividends is not necessar ily indicative of the amount or 
timing of any future dividends which we might pay.  In this regard, our revolving bank 
credit facility places certain restrictions on the payment of dividends.  We are 
limited to a $.125 per share quarterly dividend, no t to exceed an aggregate of $8.0 
million in any calendar year. 
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Performance Graph.  Set forth below is a line graph comparing the ye arly change 

in our cumulative total stockholder returns on our Class A common stock against the 
cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Index a nd an index of a self-selected peer 
group of companies for the period from December 31,  2006 through December 31, 2011.  
The peer group index is comprised of The Eastern Co mpany and Leggett & Platt Inc.  The 
graph shows the value at December 31 of each year a ssuming an original investment of 
$100 at December 31, 2006 and reinvestment of divid ends.  
 

 December 31, 

  2006  2007  2008  2009  2010  2011  
CompX International Inc. $100 $ 75 $29 $ 45 $ 72 $ 95 
Russell 2000 Index 100 98 65 83 105 101 
Peer Group 100 76 69 99 117 124 
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Comparison of Cumulative Five Year Total Return 

CompX International Inc. Russell 2000 Peer Group
 

 
 
Equity compensation plan information.  We have an equity compensation plan, 

approved by our stockholders, which provides for th e discretionary grant to our 
employees and directors of, among other things, opt ions to purchase our Class A 
common stock and stock awards.  As of December 31, 2011, there were 9,200 options 
outstanding to purchase an equivalent number of sha res of our Class A common stock, 
and approximately 978,820 shares of our Class A com mon stock were available for 
future grants or issuances.  We do not have any equ ity compensation plans that were 
not approved by our stockholders.  
 
 In February 2012, our board of directors voted to replace the equity 
compensation plan with a new plan pursuant to which  an aggregate of 200,000 shares 
of our common stock can be awarded to members of ou r board of directors.  The new 
plan is subject to shareholders’ approval at our Ma y 2012 shareholder meeting.  See 
Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
 

The following selected financial data should be rea d in conjunction with our 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 7 - "Man agement's Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."  
 

Our fiscal year end is always the Sunday closest to  December 31, and our 
operations are reported on a 52 or 53-week fiscal y ear.  2009 was a 53-week year, 
all other years shown are 52-week years.   

 
          Years ended December 31,          
 2007  2008  2009  2010  2011  
 ($ in millions, except per share data) 
Statements of Operations Data:       
      
Net sales  $177.7  $165.5  $116.1  $135.3  $138.8 
      
Gross profit   45.2   40.3   23.8   36.0  35.2 
      
Operating income (loss)   15.6    6.2 (1)     (4.0) (2)     9.3 (2)    15.5 (2)(3)

      
Provision (benefit) for income  
   taxes 

 
   6.9 

 
   7.2 

 
 (3.1) 

 
   5.7 (4)  

 
 7.4 

      
Net income (loss)  $ 9.0  $ (3.1)  $ (2.0)  $ 3.1  $ 7.7 
      
Diluted Earnings Per Share Data:       
      
Net income (loss)   $ .61  $ (.25)  $ (.16)  $ .25  $ .62 
      
Cash dividends  $ .50  $ .50  $ .50  $ .50  $ .50 
Weighted average common shares 
  outstanding 

 
 14.8 

 
 12.4 

 
 12.4 

 
 12.4 

 
 12.4 

      
      
Balance Sheet Data (at year end):       
      
  Cash and other current assets  $  68.2  $ 59.5  $  55.1  $ 65.4  $ 47.4 
  Total assets  187.7  163.4  154.0  160.1   141.5 
  Current liabilities  18.9  17.0  14.6  20.1   18. 8 
  Long- term debt and note payable 

to affiliate, including 
current maturities 

 
 
 50.0 

 
 
 43.0 

 
 
 42.2 

 
 
 45.2 

 
 
  24.2 

  Stockholders' equity   104.1  91.3  85.0  83.9   84.7 
      
      
Statements of Cash Flow Data:      
      
Cash provided by (used in):      
  Operating activities  $  11.9  $ 5.7  $  15.3  $ 13.0  $  16.0 
  Investing activities  (12.4)  (5.1)  (2.1)  (17.1 )  7.2 
  Financing activities  (11.7)  (14.2)  (7.1)  (3.2 )  (26.7) 

 
(1) Includes a $9.9 million goodwill impairment charge related to our Marine Components 
segment.   
(2) Includes litigation expense of $4.6 million in 2009 , $2.4 million in 2010, and 
$227,000 in 2011.  See Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 
(3) Includes a 2011 patent litigation settlement gain o f $7.5 million.  See Note 13 to 
our Consolidated Financial Statements. 
(4) Includes a $1.9 million provision for deferred inco me taxes on pre-2005 
undistributed earnings of our Taiwanese subsidiary.   See Note 7 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 

OF OPERATIONS 
 
Business Overview 
 

We are a leading manufacturer of engineered compone nts utilized in a variety 
of applications and industries.  Through our Securi ty Products segment we 
manufacture mechanical and electrical cabinet locks  and other locking mechanisms 
used in postal, office and institutional furniture,  transportation, vending, tool 
storage and general cabinetry applications.  Our Fu rniture Components segment 
manufactures precision ball bearing slides and ergo nomic computer support systems 
used in office and institutional furniture, home ap pliances, tool storage, 
healthcare and a variety of other applications.  We  also manufacture stainless steel 
exhaust systems, gauges and throttle controls for t he performance and ski/wakeboard 
boat markets through our Marine Components segment.  
 
 
Operating Income Overview  
 

We reported operating income of $15.5 million in 20 11 compared to operating 
income of $9.3 million in 2010 and an operating los s of $4.0 million in 2009.  The 
comparison between 2011 and 2010 was primarily impa cted by: 

• the positive impact of a litigation settlement gain  in 2011 as well as the 
positive impact of lower litigation expense in 2011 ; 

• the positive impact of higher sales in 2011 from an  increase in customer 
order rates primarily in Security Products due to i mproved economic 
conditions in North America;  

• the negative impact in 2011 of relocation costs and  production 
inefficiencies related to the consolidation of our precision slides 
facilities; 

• the negative impact on margins in 2011 from higher raw material costs; 
• the negative impact of a higher write-down on asset s held for sale in 2011; 

and 
• the negative impact of relative changes in foreign currency exchange rates 

in 2011. 
 

The comparison between 2010 and 2009 was primarily impacted by: 
• the positive impact of higher sales in 2010 from an  increase in customer 

order rates across all of our business segments due  to improved economic 
conditions in North America;  

• improved margins in 2010 due to an increase in util ization of production 
capacity and improved coverage of fixed manufacturi ng costs from the above 
noted higher sales;  

• the positive impact of lower litigation expense in 2010; and 
• the negative impact of relative changes in foreign currency exchange rates 

in 2010. 
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Results of Operations - 2011 Compared to 2010 and 2 010 Compared to 2009 
 

 Years ended December 31,      %Change     
 2009  2010  2011  2009-10   2010-11   
 (Dollars in millions)    
     
Net sales $116.1  $135.3 $138.8 16% 3% 
Cost of goods sold  92.3   99.3   103.6  8% 4% 
      
  Gross profit 23.8  36.0 35.2 51% (2%) 
      
Operating costs and expenses  22.5   23.6  23.9 5% 1% 
Litigation settlement    -     -  (7.5)  - n.m.  
Litigation expense 4.6  2.4 0.2 (48%)  (90%)  
Facility consolidation costs    -  0.2   2.0 - n.m.  
Asset held for sale write-downs   0.7    0.5    1.1  (30%)  127% 
      
  Operating income (loss) $(4.0 ) $ 9.3  $15.5  331% 66% 
      
Percent of net sales:      
  Cost of goods sold 80%  73% 75%   
  Gross margin 20%  27% 25%   
  Operating costs and expenses 19%  17% 17%   
  Litigation settlement  - - (5%)    
  Litigation expenses  4% 2% -   
  Facility consolidation - - 1%   
  Asset held for sale write-down  1%  - 1%   
  Operating income (loss) (3%) 7% 11%   
      
n.m. - not meaningful      

 
Net Sales.  Net sales increased approximately $3.5 million in 2 011 as compared 

to 2010 principally due to improved sales in the Se curity Products segment.  Security 
Products experienced a significant increase in sale s to customers in the leisure 
transportation industry as well as improved custome r order rates across most customers 
as a result of some improvement in the economy and new specific customer projects.  
Furniture Components net sales were positively impa cted by $1.9 million in sales 
relating to the July acquisition of an ergonomics c omponent products business.  See 
Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  T he increase in sales was fully 
offset by a decrease in sales of our other ergonomi cs component products due to a 
decrease in customer projects associated with gover nment spending.  Additionally, we 
experienced a slight decline in overall demand for ergonomic products due to the 
somewhat discretionary nature of ergonomic products  and the overall challenging 
economic environment.  Net sales for Marine Compone nts were comparable from 2010 to 
2011.   

 
Net sales increased approximately $19.2 million in 2010 as compared to 2009 

principally due to an increase in order rates from our customers resulting from 
improved economic conditions in North America.  Our  Furniture Components, Security 
Products and Marine Components segments accounted f or approximately 57%, 34% and 9%, 
respectively, of the total increase in sales year o ver year. Furniture Components 
sales was a greater percentage of the total increas e because this segment experienced 
a greater contraction in demand during the economic  downturn in 2009, resulting in a 
greater relative increase as customer demand began to return.  The Marine Components 
segment accounted for a smaller percentage of the t otal increase due to the smaller 
sales volume associated with that segment.  
 

Costs of Goods Sold and Gross Margin.  Cost of goods sold increased from 2010 to 
2011 primarily due to increased sales volumes.  As a percentage of sales, gross margin 
decreased in 2011 from the prior year.  The gross m argin percentage was negatively 
impacted by higher raw material costs, inefficienci es relating to the 2011 
consolidation of Furniture Components facilities an d the relative changes in currency 
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exchange rates, partially offset by the positive im pact of increased leverage of fixed 
costs from higher sales.  The gross margin impact r elating to the above noted July 
2011 acquisition of an ergonomics component product s business was not significant.   
 

Cost of goods sold increased from 2009 to 2010 prim arily due to increased sales 
volumes.  As a percentage of sales, gross margin in creased in 2010 from the prior 
year.  The increase in gross margin percentage is p rimarily due to improved coverage 
of overhead and fixed manufacturing costs from high er sales volume and the related 
efficiency gains. 
 

Operating Costs and Expenses .  Operating costs and expenses consists primarily 
of sales and administrative related personnel costs , sales commissions and 
advertising expenses directly related to product sa les and administrative costs 
relating to business unit and corporate management activities, as well as gains and 
losses on plant, property and equipment and currenc y transaction gains and losses.  
As a percentage of net sales, operating costs and e xpenses were comparable at 17% in 
2011 and 2010. Operating costs and expenses as a pe rcentage of net sales decreased 
1% in 2010 compared to 2009 primarily due to sellin g, general and administrative 
costs increasing at a slower rate than sales volume s.  
 

Litigation settlement gain and expenses .  The litigation settlement gain 
recorded in 2011 of approximately $7.5 million is d iscussed in Note 13 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  Additionally, a s a result of the settlement, 
legal expenses relating to Furniture Components dec reased approximately $2.2 million 
in 2011 compared to 2010. 

 
Patent litigation expenses relating to Furniture Co mponents decreased $2.2 

million in 2010 compared to 2009, primarily due to the timing of litigation 
proceedings, discussed above.   

 
Assets Held for Sale Write-down .  We recorded write-downs on assets held for 

sale of $1.1 million, $500,000 and $717,000 in 2011 , 2010 and 2009, respectively, 
relating to certain facilities held for sale that a re no longer in use.  The write-
downs are included in corporate operating expense.  See Note 10 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 

Operating Income.  The comparison of operating income for 2011 to 2010  was 
primarily impacted by:  

• the positive impact of a $7.5 million settlement ga in in 2011 and lower 
related litigation expense of approximately $2.2 mi llion; 

• the negative impact of $2.0 million of facility con solidation costs in 2011, 
and related production inefficiencies; 

• the negative impact of higher raw material costs; 
• the $1.1 million write-down on assets held for sale  in 2011 compared to 

$500,000 in 2010; and 
• the negative $743,000 impact of relative changes in  foreign currency exchange 

rates in 2011. 
 

The comparison of operating income for 2010 to 2009  was primarily impacted by:  
• a $12.2 million improvement in gross profit in 2010  due to higher sales and 

continued control of fixed manufacturing costs, res ulting in an increase in 
utilization of production capacity and improved cov erage of fixed 
manufacturing costs;  

• the positive impact of $2.2 million in lower litiga tion expense in 2010; and 
• the negative $1.8 million impact of relative change s in foreign currency 

exchange rates in 2010. 
 

Currency.  Our Furniture Components segment has substantial op erations and 
assets located outside the United States (in Canada  and Taiwan).  The majority of 
sales generated from our non-U.S. operations are de nominated in the U.S. dollar with 
the remainder denominated in other currencies, prin cipally the Canadian dollar and 
the New Taiwan dollar.  Most materials, labor and o ther production costs for our 



- 20 - 
 

non-U.S. operations are denominated primarily in lo cal currencies.  Consequently, 
the translated U.S. dollar values of our non-U.S. s ales and operating results are 
subject to currency exchange rate fluctuations whic h may favorably or unfavorably 
impact reported earnings and may affect comparabili ty of period-to-period operating 
results.  In addition to the impact of the translat ion of sales and expenses over 
time, our non-U.S. operations also generate currenc y transaction gains and losses 
which primarily relate to the difference between th e currency exchange rates in 
effect when  non-local currency sales or operating costs are initially accrued and 
when such amounts are settled with the non-local cu rrency. 

 
Overall, fluctuations in currency exchange rates ha d the following effects on 

our Furniture Component segment’s net sales and ope rating income: 
 

 
 

The positive impact on sales for both comparative p eriods relates to sales 
denominated in non-U.S. dollar currencies translate d into higher U.S. dollar sales 
due to a strengthening of the local currency in rel ation to the U.S. dollar. 

 
The negative impact on operating income for both co mparative periods results 

from the U.S. dollar denominated sales of non-U.S. operations converted into lower 
local currency amounts due to the weakening of the U.S. dollar.  This negatively 
impacted our gross margin as it results in less loc al currency generated from sales 
to cover the costs of non-U.S. operations which are  denominated in local currency.   

 
General 

 
Our profitability primarily depends on our ability to utilize our production 

capacity effectively, which is affected by, among o ther things, the demand for our 
products and our ability to control our manufacturi ng costs, primarily comprised of 
labor costs and materials.  The materials used in o ur products consist of purchased 
components and raw materials some of which are subj ect to fluctuations in the 
commodity markets such as coiled steel, zinc, coppe r, plastic resin and stainless 
steel. Total material costs represented approximate ly 53% of our cost of sales in 
2011, with commodity related raw materials accounti ng for approximately 18% of our 
cost of sales.  Worldwide commodity raw material co sts declined in 2009 and began 
increasing in the second half of 2010 and continued  increasing throughout 2011.  We 
occasionally enter into short-term commodity relate d raw material supply arrangements 
to mitigate the impact of future increases in commo dity related raw material costs.  
These arrangements generally provide for stated uni t prices based upon specified 
purchase volumes, which helps us to stabilize commo dity related raw material purchase 
prices to a certain extent.  We enter into such arr angements for zinc, brass and 
coiled steel.  We expect commodity related raw mate rial prices to increase in 2012 in 
conjunction with higher demand as a result of the e xpected improvement in the world 

2010 vs 2011 (in thousands)  

    Transaction gains/(losses)   

Translation 
gain/loss- 

impact of rate 
Total currency 

impact 
    2010      2011    Change   changes   2010 vs 2011  
Impact on:       
Net Sales $  -  $  -  $  -  $  476 $  476  
Operating income  (354) 410 764 (1,507) (743) 

 
     2009 vs 2010 (in thousands)      

    Transaction gains/(losses)  

Translation 
gain/loss- 

impact of rate 
Total currency 

impact 
   2009    2010     Change    changes   2009 vs 2010  
Impact on:      
Net Sales $  -  $  -  $  -  $  999 $  999  
Operating income   (236)   (354)    (118)    (1,645) (1,763)  
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wide economy.  These raw materials purchased on the  spot market are sometimes subject 
to unanticipated and sudden price increases.  We ge nerally seek to mitigate the impact 
of fluctuations in commodity raw material costs on our margins through improvements in 
production efficiencies or other operating cost red uctions.  In the event we are 
unable to offset cost increases for these raw mater ials with other cost reductions, it 
may be difficult to recover those cost increases th rough increased product selling 
prices or raw material surcharges due to the compet itive nature of the markets served 
by our products.  Consequently, overall operating m argins may be affected by raw 
material cost pressures.  
 

Other non-operating income, net  
 

As summarized in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financ ial Statements, “other non-
operating income, net” primarily includes interest income.  Interest income was 
comparable at $373,000 in 2011 and $345,000 in 2010 .  Interest income in both 
periods includes interest on our $15 million promis sory note receivable discussed in 
Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  Interest income increased 
approximately $302,000 in 2010 compared to 2009 pri marily due to the higher interest 
earned on the $15 million note receivable purchased  in May 2010 which carried an 
average interest rate of 3.15% during 2010.  We exp ect our interest income to 
decrease in 2012 as a result of lower balances avai lable for investment. 

 
 
Interest expense    

 
Interest expense was comparable from 2009 to 2010 a nd to 2011 as the 

significant reduction to the note payable to affili ate of $15.0 million was not paid 
until October 2011.  The average interest rate on t he note payable to affiliate at 
December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2011 was 1.92%, 1.34%,  and 1.33%.  In addition, we 
averaged $3.1 million and $2.4 million outstanding on our revolving credit facility 
(interest rate of 3.5% at December 31, 2010 and 4.4 % at December 31, 2011) during 
2010 and 2011, respectively.  See Note 6 to the Con solidated Financial Statements. 
We expect our interest expense to decrease in 2012 as a result of lower debt 
balances outstanding. 

 
 

Provision for income taxes 
 

A tabular reconciliation between our effective inco me tax rate and the U.S. 
federal statutory income tax rate of 35% is include d in Note 7 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  As a member of the group of companies consolidated for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes with Contran, the paren t of our consolidated U.S. federal 
income tax group, we compute our provision for inco me taxes on a separate company 
basis, using the tax elections made by Contran.  Ou r separate company basis income 
tax rates vary by jurisdiction (country and/or stat e), and relative changes in the 
geographic mix of our pre-tax earnings can result i n fluctuations in the effective 
income tax rate.  Generally, the effective tax rate  on income derived from our U.S. 
operations, including the effect of U.S. state inco me taxes, is lower than the 
effective tax rate on income derived from our non-U .S. operations, in part due to 
the deferred tax on all of our foreign earnings as they are deemed to be not 
permanently reinvested and an election for each of the last three years to not claim 
a credit with respect to foreign income taxes paid but instead to claim a tax 
deduction, consistent with the elections of Contran .   
 

Our effective income tax rate decreased from 65% in  2010 to 49% in 2011.  The 
decrease in our effective income tax rate is primar ily due to a $1.9 million 
provision for deferred income taxes recorded in 201 0 on undistributed earnings of 
our Taiwanese subsidiary discussed below. Our provi sion for income taxes in 2011 
includes a $2.1 million provision for deferred inco me taxes related to the 
undistributed earnings of our Canadian subsidiary a ttributable to the $7.5 million 
patent litigation settlement gain.  See Notes 7 and  13 to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  We currently expect our effective inco me tax rate for 2012 to be lower 
than our effective rate for 2011. 
   



- 22 - 
 

Prior to the first quarter of 2010, we had not reco gnized a deferred tax 
liability related to incremental income taxes on th e pre-2005 undistributed earnings 
of our Taiwanese subsidiary, as those earnings were  deemed to be permanently 
reinvested.  We are required to reassess the perman ent reinvestment conclusion on an 
ongoing basis to determine if our intentions have c hanged.  At the end of March 
2010, and based primarily upon changes in our cash management plans, we determined 
that all of the undistributed earnings of our Taiwa nese subsidiary can no longer be 
considered permanently reinvested in Taiwan.  Accor dingly, in the first quarter of 
2010 we recognized an aggregate $1.9 million provis ion for deferred income taxes on 
the pre-2005 undistributed earnings of our Taiwanes e subsidiary.  Consequently, all 
of the undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. opera tions are now considered to not 
be permanently reinvested.   

 
Our effective income tax rate increased from 61% in  2009 to 65% in 2010, 

primarily as a result of the above mentioned $1.9 m illion provision for deferred 
income taxes in 2010 related to undistributed earni ngs of our Taiwanese subsidiary.   

   
 
Segment Results 
 

The key performance indicator for our segments is t he level of their operating 
income (see discussion below).  For additional info rmation regarding our segments 
refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial State ments. 
 
  Years ended December 31,          % Change         
 2009  2010  2011  2009 – 2010  2010 – 2011  
 (In millions)  
      
Net sales:      
  Security Products $ 61.4 $ 68.0  $ 71.4  11% 5% 
  Furniture Components 48.2 59.1 59.0 23% - 
  Marine Components    6.5     8.2     8.4  25% 4% 
      
    Total net sales $116.1  $135.3  $138.8  16% 3% 
      
Gross profit:      
  Security Products $ 17.8 $ 21.6 $ 23.1 21% 7% 
  Furniture Components 6.5 13.5 11.1 108% (18%) 
  Marine Components   (0.5 )    0.9     1.0  260% 5% 
      
    Total gross profit $ 23.8  $ 36.0  $ 35.2  51% (2%) 
      
Operating income (loss):      
  Security Products $  9.7 $ 13.1 $ 14.4 35% 10% 
  Furniture Components (4.7) 3.4 9.0 173% 163% 
  Marine Components (3.0) (1.4)  (1.2) 53% 15% 
  Corporate operating expenses   (6.0 )   (5.8 )    (6.7 ) 4% (17%) 
      
    Total operating income (loss)  $ (4.0 ) $  9.3  $ 15.5  331% 66% 
      
Operating income (loss) margin:      
  Security Products 16% 19% 20%   
  Furniture Components (10%) 6% 15%   
  Marine Components (47%) (18%) (15%)   
  Total operating income margin (3%) 7% 11%   
      
 
 

Security Products.  Security Products net sales increased 5% to $71.4 m illion 
in 2011 compared to $68.0 million in 2010.  The inc rease in sales is primarily due 
to improved customer order rates across most custom ers with a greater increase among 
leisure transportation market customers resulting f rom some improvement in the 
economic conditions in North America and specific c ustomer projects.  Gross margin 
and operating income percentages increased in 2011 compared to 2010 by one 
percentage point due to greater leverage of fixed m anufacturing costs on the higher 



- 23 - 
 

level of sales in 2011.  Although sales increased b y $3.4 million from 2010 to 2011, 
fixed manufacturing expenses were comparable betwee n years as a $350,000 decrease in 
depreciation expense relating to the timing of hist orical capital expenditures and 
retirements offset an increase in other fixed manuf acturing expenses associated with 
the increase in sales.   

 
Security Products net sales increased 11% to $68.0 million in 2010 compared to 

$61.4 million in 2009.  The increase in sales is pr imarily due to an increase in 
order rates across most of our customers resulting from improved economic conditions 
in North America.  Gross margin and operating incom e percentages increased in 2010 
compared to 2009 due to the positive impact of (i) a $4.0 million increase in 
variable contribution primarily as a result of high er sales and improved production 
efficiencies directly resulting from the higher sal es, and (ii) improved leverage of 
fixed manufacturing costs (which increased only $26 4,000) and selling, general and 
administrative costs (which increased only $381,000 ) on higher sales.   

 
Furniture Components.  Furniture Components net sales were flat in 2011 

compared 2010.  Net sales were positively impacted by $1.9 million in sales relating 
to the July acquisition of an ergonomics component products business.  See Note 2 to 
our Consolidated Financial Statements.  The increas e in sales was fully offset by a 
decrease in sales of our other ergonomics component  products due to a decrease in 
customer projects associated with government spendi ng.  Additionally, we experienced a 
slight decline in overall demand for ergonomic prod ucts due to the somewhat 
discretionary nature of ergonomic products and the overall challenging economic 
environment.  Gross margin percentage decreased app roximately 4% in 2011 compared to 
2010 primarily due to production inefficiencies rel ating to the 2011 facility 
consolidation and a negative $1.2 million impact of  relative changes in currency 
exchange rates.  The impact of the acquired ergonom ics component business on gross 
margin percentage for 2011 was not significant.  Fo r the 2010 and 2011 comparative 
period, Furniture Components operating income inclu des: (i) a patent litigation 
settlement gain of $7.5 million recognized in 2011,  (ii) patent litigation expenses 
of $2.4 million and $227,000 in 2010 and 2011, resp ectively, and (iii) facility 
consolidation costs of approximately $2.0 million i n 2011.  Excluding the patent 
litigation settlement gain, patent litigation expen ses and facility consolidation 
costs, operating income percentage decreased 4 perc entage points in 2011 compared to 
2010 primarily due to the decrease in gross margin for the comparative period, as 
noted above.  See Notes 13 and 9 to the Consolidate d Financial Statements regarding 
the litigation settlement gain and the facility con solidation costs in 2011, 
respectively.  

 
In July of 2011, we completed the above noted acqui sition of an ergonomic 

component products business for cash consideration of approximately $4.8 million.  
The acquisition is intended to expand our Furniture  Components ergonomics product 
line.  See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Sta tements.   

 
Furniture Components net sales increased 23% to $59 .1 million in 2010 from 

$48.2 million  in 2009, primarily due to an increase in customer o rder rates across 
most customers resulting from improved economic con ditions in North America.  Gross 
margin percentage increased approximately 10% in 20 10 compared to 2009.  Operating 
income increased from a loss of $4.7 million in 200 9 to income of $3.4 million in 
2010.  The increases in the gross margin percentage  and operating income are 
primarily the result of (i) a $6.6 million increase  in variable contribution 
primarily as a result of higher sales and improved production efficiencies directly 
resulting from the higher sales, (ii) improved leve rage of fixed manufacturing costs 
due to the significant increase in sales and contin ued control of costs, and (iii) 
lower selling, general and administrative costs pri marily due to a $2.2 million 
decrease in litigation expense which was partially offset by limited cost increases 
in response to the higher sales and the negative im pact of changes in currency 
exchange rates.  See Note 13 to the Consolidated Fi nancial Statements. 

 
Marine Components.  Marine Components net sales increased 4% in 2011 as  compared 

to 2010.  As a percentage of net sales, gross margi n was flat over the comparative 
period.  Operating loss percentage improved in 2011  compared to 2010 primarily due to 
increased leverage of fixed costs as a result of th e higher sales and lower intangible 
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amortization expense due to intangibles that became  fully amortized in 2010 and the 
first six months of 2011. 
 

Marine Components net sales increased 25% in 2010 a s compared to 2009 primarily 
due to an increase in customer order rates resultin g from improved economic conditions 
in North America.  As a result of the improved labo r efficiency and coverage of 
overhead and fixed cost from the higher sales, gros s margin percentage increased 
approximately 20% from 2009 to 2010.  Consequently,  the operating loss decreased to 
$1.4 million in 2010 as compared to a loss of $3.0 million in 2009. 
 

Outlook 
 

Sales demand across all of our segments increased d uring the first quarter of 
2011 compared to the prior year as conditions in th e overall economy improved. Our 
Security Products segment continued to see improved  demand over the prior year 
throughout the remainder of the year due to the div ersity of the customers that it 
serves.  However, during the later part of the seco nd quarter and through the 
remainder of the year, our Furniture Components seg ment experienced flat customer 
demand due to slowing orders in the appliance and o ffice furniture markets as well 
as a decline in projects driven by government spend ing.  The Furniture Components 
sales were positively impacted by $1.9 million rela ting to the business acquired in 
July 2011 which on a pro forma basis had net sales of $5.1 million in 2011.  Due to 
the current economic situation, it is uncertain (i)  whether sales growth will return 
to the Furniture Components segment over the next s everal months, (ii) what the 
future impact on sales of the acquired business wil l be or (iii) the extent that 
sales will grow in the Security Products segment du ring 2012.  While changes in 
market demand are not within our control, we are fo cused on the areas we can impact.  
Staffing levels are continuously evaluated in relat ion to sales order rates which 
may result in headcount adjustments, to the extent possible, to match staffing 
levels with demand.  We expect our continuous lean manufacturing and cost 
improvement initiatives, such as the consolidation of our Furniture Components 
facilities, to positively impact our productivity a nd result in a more efficient 
infrastructure. Additionally, we continue to seek o pportunities to gain market share 
in markets we currently serve, to expand into new m arkets and to develop new product 
features in order to mitigate the impact of changes  in demand as well as broaden our 
sales base.   
 

Volatility in the costs of commodity raw materials is ongoing.  Our primary 
commodity raw materials are steel, brass, alloyed z inc and stainless steel which 
together represent approximately 18% of our total c ost of goods sold.  Compared to 
2010, our cost of these raw materials increased in 2011 between approximately 10% 
and 21%.  We generally seek to mitigate the impact of fluctuations in commodity raw 
material costs on our margins through improvements in production efficiencies or 
other operating cost reductions as well as occasion ally executing larger quantity 
tactical spot buys of these raw materials, which ma y result in higher inventory 
balances for a period of time.  In the event we are  unable to offset commodity raw 
material cost increases with other cost reductions,  it may be difficult to recover 
those cost increases through increased product sell ing prices or surcharges due to 
the competitive nature of the markets served by our  products.  Additionally, 
significant surcharges may negatively affect our ma rgins as they typically only 
recover the increased cost of the raw material with out adding margin dollars 
resulting in a lower margin percentage.  Consequent ly, overall operating margins may 
be negatively affected by commodity raw material co st pressures as is currently the 
case. 

 
As discussed in Note 13 to the Condensed Consolidat ed Financial Statements, we 

have been involved in certain patent infringement l itigation, which has in the past 
resulted in our incurring significant litigation ex pense.  With the settlement 
reached during the first quarter of 2011, we do not  expect to incur significant 
litigation expense relating to these patent infring ement claims going forward.  

 
The U.S. dollar weakened in 2011 in comparison to t he Canadian dollar and the 

New Taiwan dollar, which are the primary currencies  of our non-U.S. operations.  We 
expect the U.S. dollar to continue to weaken during  2012 which will likely have a 
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negative impact on our 2012 results in comparison t o 2011.  When practical, we will 
seek to mitigate the negative impact of changes in currency exchange rates on our 
results by entering into currency hedging contracts .  However, such strategies 
cannot fully mitigate the negative impact of change s in currency exchange rates.  
See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statement s for currency hedging contracts 
in place at December 31, 2011.   
 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
Summary.  
 

Our primary source of liquidity on an on-going basi s is our cash flow from 
operating activities, which is generally used to (i ) fund capital expenditures, (ii) 
repay short-term or long-term indebtedness incurred  primarily for capital 
expenditures, business combinations or buying back shares of our outstanding stock and 
(iii) provide for the payment of dividends (if decl ared).  From time-to-time, we will 
incur indebtedness to fund capital expenditures, bu siness combinations or other 
investment activities.  In addition, from time-to-t ime, we may also sell assets 
outside the ordinary course of business, the procee ds of which are generally used to 
repay indebtedness (including indebtedness which ma y have been collateralized by the 
assets sold) or to fund capital expenditures or bus iness combinations. 
 
Consolidated cash flows. 
 

Operating activities.  Trends in cash flows from operating activities, 
excluding changes in assets and liabilities, for th e last three years have generally 
been similar to the trends in our earnings. Depreci ation and amortization expense 
decreased in 2011 compared to 2010, and in 2010 com pared to 2009 due to lower 
capital expenditure requirements in recent years as  a result of lower customer 
demand, as well as the timing of certain assets tha t have become fully depreciated.  
See Notes 1 and 4 to the Consolidated Financial Sta tements.   
 

Changes in assets and liabilities result primarily from the timing of 
production, sales and purchases.  Such changes in a ssets and liabilities generally 
tend to even out over time.  However, year-to-year relative changes in assets and 
liabilities can significantly affect the comparabil ity of cash flows from operating 
activities.  Cash provided by operating activities was $16.0 million in 2011 
compared to $13.0 million in 2010.  The $3.0 millio n increase in cash provided by 
operating activities is primarily the net result of : 
 

• Higher operating income in 2011 of approximately $6 .1 million (primarily as a 
result of a $7.5 million litigation settlement gain  recognized in 2011 and 
higher Security Products earnings of $1.3 million, partially offset by $2.0 
million in facility consolidation costs);  

• Lower net cash used by relative changes in our inve ntories, receivables, 
payables and non-tax related accruals of $1.7 milli on in 2011; 

• Higher cash paid for income taxes in 2011 of approx imately $4.6 million due to 
increased earnings; and 

• Higher cash paid for interest in 2011 of $1.3 due t o the timing of interest 
payments discussed in Note 6 to the Consolidated Fi nancial Statements. 

 
Cash provided by operating activities was $13.0 mil lion in 2010 compared to 

$15.3 million in 2009.  The $2.3 million decline in  cash provided by operating 
activities is primarily the net result of: 
 

• Improved operating results in 2010 of approximately  $12.7 million (exclusive 
of the noncash asset held for sale write-downs of $ 717,000 in 2009 and 
$500,000 in 2010, and the impact of lower depreciat ion and amortization 
expense in 2010 of approximately $533,000);  

• Lower net cash provided by relative changes in our inventories, receivables, 
payables and non-tax related accruals of $14.3 mill ion in 2010; 
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• Lower cash paid for income taxes in 2010 of approxi mately $578,000 due to 
timing of payments; and 

• Lower cash paid for interest in 2010 of $968,000 du e to the 2010 deferral of 
interest on our note payable to affiliate until Mar ch 2011. 

 
Relative changes in working capital can have a sign ificant effect on cash flows 

from operating activities.  As shown below, our ave rage days sales outstanding 
decreased from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 20 11 across all of our segments, 
with the exception of Marine Components, which does  not have a significant amount of 
receivables.  In absolute terms, accounts receivabl e decreased by $355,000 at 
December 31, 2011 as compared to December 31, 2010 while fourth quarter sales 
increased by $741,000. As a result, our overall Dec ember 31, 2011 days sales 
outstanding compared to December 31, 2010 is in lin e with our expectations.  For 
comparative purposes, we have provided 2009 numbers  below. 

 
 December 31, December 31, December 31, 

Days Sales Outstanding:  2009 2010 2011 
    
  Security Products 34 Days  40 Days  39 Days 
  Furniture Components 40 Days  44 Days  38 Days 
  Marine Components 33 Days  34 Days     44 Days 
    Total 37 Days  41 Days  39 Days 
    

 
As shown below, our average number of days in inven tory increased from 

December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2011 with the exc eption of Marine Components.  In 
addition, inventory increased by $1.2 million in 20 11 as compared to 2010, and 2011 
fourth quarter cost of goods sold also increased by  $1.2 million over the same 
period in 2010.  A significant portion of the incre ase in inventory is attributable 
to the ergonomics business acquired in the third qu arter of 2011.  The variability 
in days in inventory among our segments primarily r elates to the complexity of the 
production processes and therefore the length of ti me it takes to produce end 
products.  As a result, our overall December 31, 20 11 days in inventory compared to 
December 31, 2010 is in line with our expectations.     For comparative purposes, we 
have provided 2009 numbers below. 
   

 December 31, December 31, December 31, 
Days in Inventory:  2009 2010 2011 

    
  Security Products  77 Days   73 Days   79 Days 
  Furniture Components  44 Days   58 Days   59 Days 
  Marine Components  109 Days   143 Days    114 Days 
    Total  64 Days   70 Days   71 Days 

 
Investing activities . Net cash used by investing activities totaled $2. 1 million 

and $17.1 million, for the years ended December 31,  2009 and 2010, respectively.  Net 
cash provided by investing activities totaled $7.2 million for the year ended December 
31, 2011.  Capital expenditures have primarily emph asized improving our manufacturing 
facilities and investing in manufacturing equipment , which utilizes new technologies 
and increases automation of the manufacturing proce ss to provide for increased 
productivity and efficiency.  The significant items  impacting the increase in net cash 
provided by investing activities in 2011 over net c ash used in 2010 and 2009 are as 
follows:   

 
During 2011, 

• we received the $15.0 million principal amount due to us under our 
promissory note receivable, and  

• we acquired an ergonomic component products busines s for $4.8 million; and 
 
During 2010, 

• we purchased a promissory note receivable for $15.0  million. 
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Capital expenditures for 2012 are estimated at appr oximately $6.2 million 
compared to capital expenditures of $2.3 million in  2009, $2.1 million in 2010, and 
$3.2 in 2011.  Our capital expenditures over all th ree years were limited to 
expenditures required to meet expected customer dem and and properly maintain our 
facilities.  A significant portion of the increase in expected capital expenditures 
for 2012 relates to the implementation of a new man ufacturing and accounting system 
for our Security Products and Marine Components seg ments.  Capital spending for 2012 
is expected to be funded through cash on hand and c ash generated from operations and 
relates to expenditures required to meet expected c ustomer demand and properly 
maintain our facilities.    

 
In February 2010, we entered into an unsecured dema nd promissory note with NL 

whereby we agreed to loan NL up to $8 million.  We loaned NL a total of $9 million in 
2010 under the promissory note, which NL subsequent ly repaid during 2010 although the 
maximum outstanding at any time during the year was  $7.0 million.  No amounts were 
outstanding as of December 31, 2010 or December 31,  2011.  See Note 12 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
In May of 2010, we purchased from NL and one of its  subsidiaries, for $15.0 

million in cash, all of their right, title, and int erest in a subordinated secured 
mortgage note receivable dated October 15, 2008 in the original principal amount of 
$15.0 million, originally payable to NL and its sub sidiary.  We received the full 
$15.0 million in principal in October 2011.  See No tes 6 and 12 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 

Financing activities. Net cash used by financing activities totaled $7.1 
million, $3.2 million, and $26.7 million in 2009, 2 010 and 2011, respectively.  These 
amounts were primarily impacted by the following it ems: 

 
During 2011, 

• we repaid $3.0 million that was outstanding under o ur credit facility at 
December 31, 2010, 

• we borrowed $5.3 million in connection with our acq uisition of an 
ergonomics products business and subsequently repai d $2.9 million during 
2011, and 

• we repaid $20 million in principal payments on our promissory note payable 
to affiliate; 

 
During 2010, 

• we borrowed $5.0 million under our credit facility,  and subsequently 
repaid $2.0 million during 2010; and 

 
During 2009, 

• we made scheduled payments on our promissory note p ayable to affiliate of 
$750,000. 

 
Cash dividends paid totaled $6.2 million ($.50 per share) in each of 2009, 2010, 

and 2011. 
 
At December 31, 2011, there was approximately $2.0 million outstanding under 

our revolving bank credit facility. In January 2012 , we amended and restated the 
facility to, among other things, decrease the size of the facility to $30 million.  
At December 31, 2011, and based on the amended size  of the facility, we could borrow 
the remaining $28 million without violating any deb t covenants.  We were in 
compliance with all of our amended and restated fin ancial covenants at December 31, 
2011.  See Note 6 to our Consolidated Financial Sta tements. 
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Provisions contained in our revolving credit facili ty could result in the 

acceleration of any outstanding indebtedness prior to its stated maturity for 
reasons other than defaults from failing to comply with typical financial covenants.  
For example, our revolving credit facility allows t he lender to accelerate the 
maturity of the indebtedness upon a change of contr ol (as defined) of the borrower.  
The terms of our revolving credit facility could re sult in the acceleration of all 
or a portion of the indebtedness following a sale o f assets outside of the ordinary 
course of business.  Although there are no current expectations to borrow on the 
revolving credit facility, significantly lower futu re operating results would likely 
reduce or eliminate our amount available to borrow and restrict future dividends.  
See also Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial State ments. 

 
Off balance sheet financing arrangements.   Other than certain operating leases 

discussed in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, neither we nor any of 
our subsidiaries or affiliates are parties to any o ff-balance sheet financing 
arrangements.   
 
Other 
 

We believe cash generated from operations together with cash on hand will be 
sufficient to meet our liquidity needs for working capital, capital expenditures, debt 
service and dividends (if declared) for the next tw elve months and our long term 
obligations for the next five years.  To the extent  that actual operating results or 
other developments differ from our expectations, ou r liquidity could be adversely 
affected. 
 
 Of the $10.1 million aggregate cash and cash equiv alents at December 31, 2011, 
$6.3 million was held by our non-U.S. subsidiaries.  
 

We periodically evaluate our liquidity requirements , alternative uses of 
capital, capital needs and available resources in v iew of, among other things, our 
capital expenditure requirements, dividend policy a nd estimated future operating cash 
flows.  As a result of this process, we have in the  past and may in the future seek to 
raise additional capital, refinance or restructure indebtedness, issue additional 
securities, repurchase shares of our common stock, modify our dividend policy or take 
a combination of such steps to manage our liquidity  and capital resources.  In the 
normal course of business, we may review opportunit ies for acquisitions, joint 
ventures or other business combinations in the comp onent products industry.  In the 
event of any such transaction, we may consider usin g available cash, issuing 
additional equity securities or increasing our inde btedness or that of our 
subsidiaries. 
 

Contractual obligations .  As more fully described in the notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, we are a party t o various debt, lease and other 
agreements that contractually and unconditionally c ommit us to pay certain amounts in 
the future.  See Notes 6 and 12 to the Consolidated  Financial Statements.  The 
following table summarizes such contractual commitm ents as of December 31, 2011 by the 
type and date of payment.  

 
             Payments due by period              
 
 

 
Total  

 
  2012   

 
2013–2014  

 
2015-2016  

2017  and 
  after  

 (In thousands) 
      
Note and interest payable  
 to affiliate  

 
$23,126 

 
 $ 1,339 

 
$21,787 

 
$    -  

 
$    -  

Long-term debt, including interest 2,218 86 170 1,9 62 -  
Operating leases 1,075 397 486 185  7 
Purchase obligations 13,101 13,101 -  -  -  
Income taxes 1,520 1,520 -  -  -  
Fixed asset acquisitions      740      740      -      -       -  
      
Total contractual cash obligations $41,780  $17,183  $22,443  $2,147  $    7  
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The timing and amount shown for our commitments rel ated to indebtedness, 

operating leases and fixed asset acquisitions are b ased upon the contractual payment 
amount and the contractual payment date for those c ommitments.  The amounts shown for 
interest on indebtedness are based upon the Decembe r 31, 2011 interest rates on 
outstanding indebtedness, and assumes such interest  rates remain unchanged through the 
maturity date of the indebtedness (unless the inter est rate has changed significantly 
subsequent to December 31, 2011 in which case the m ost current rate would be used 
through the maturity of the indebtedness).  The tim ing and amount shown for purchase 
obligations, which consist of all open purchase ord ers and contractual obligations 
(primarily commitments to purchase raw materials) i s also based on the contractual 
payment amount and the contractual payment date for  those commitments.  The amount 
shown for income taxes is the consolidated amount o f income taxes payable at December 
31, 2011, which is assumed to be paid during 2012.  Fixed asset acquisitions include 
firm purchase commitments for capital projects. 

 
Commitments and contingencies.  See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements. 
 

Recent accounting pronouncements.  See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
 

We have based the accompanying "Management's Discus sion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" upon  our Consolidated Financial 
Statements. We prepared our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with 
GAAP. In preparing our Consolidated Financial State ments, we are required to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the reported am ounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities  at the date of the financial 
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and  expenses during the reported 
period.  On an on-going basis, we evaluate our esti mates, including those related to 
inventory reserves, the recoverability of long-live d assets (including goodwill and 
other intangible assets) and the realization of def erred income tax assets.  We base 
our estimates on historical experience and on vario us other assumptions that we 
believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the  results of which form the basis 
for making judgments about the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses.  Our actual future results might differ f rom previously-estimated amounts 
under different assumptions or conditions.  
 

We believe the following critical accounting polici es affect our more 
significant judgments and estimates used in the pre paration of our Consolidated 
Financial Statements and are applicable to all of o ur operating segments: 
 

• Goodwill –  Our goodwill totaled $34.2 million at December 31,  2011.  We 
perform a goodwill impairment test annually in the third quarter of each year.  
Goodwill is also evaluated for impairment at other times whenever an event 
occurs or circumstances change that would more like ly than not reduce the fair 
value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.   The estimated fair values 
of our three reporting units are determined using L evel 3 inputs of a 
discounted cash flow technique since Level 1 or Lev el 2 inputs of market 
prices are not available at the reporting unit leve l.  If the fair value is 
less than the book value, the asset is written down  to the estimated fair 
value.   

 
Considerable management judgment is necessary to ev aluate the impact of 
operating changes and to estimate future cash flows .  Assumptions used in our 
impairment evaluations, such as forecasted growth r ates and our cost of 
capital, are consistent with our internal projectio ns and operating plans.  
However, different assumptions and estimates could result in materially 
different findings which could result in the recogn ition of a material 
goodwill impairment.   
 
No goodwill impairments were deemed to exist as a r esult of our annual 
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impairment review completed during the third quarte r of 2011, as the estimated 
fair value of each reporting unit with goodwill (Se curity Products and 
Furniture Components) was substantially in excess o f the net carrying value of 
the respective reporting unit.  See Notes 1 and 4 t o the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

 
• Long-lived assets –  We assess property and equipment for impairment on ly when 

circumstances (as specified in ASC 360-10-35, Property, Plant, and Equipment)  
indicate an impairment may exist.  Our determinatio n is based upon, among 
other things, our estimates of the amount of future  net cash flows to be 
generated by the long-lived asset (Level 3 inputs) and our estimates of the 
current fair value of the asset.  Considerable mana gement judgment is 
necessary to evaluate the impact of operating chang es and to estimate future 
cash flows.  Assumptions used in our impairment eva luations, such as 
forecasted growth rates and our cost of capital, ar e consistent with our 
internal projections and operating plans.   

 
Due to management’s approval of a restructuring pla n for our Furniture 
Components reporting unit in November of 2010, whic h included moving precision 
slide production and most of the related furniture and equipment from our 
Byron Center, Michigan facility to other precision slide manufacturing 
facilities within our Furniture Components unit, we  evaluated the long lived 
assets to be moved from our Byron Center facility.  As of December 31, 2011, 
we concluded no impairments were present relating t o the moved furniture and 
equipment.  However, if our future cash flows from operations less capital 
expenditures were to drop significantly below our c urrent expectations, it is 
reasonably likely we would conclude an impairment w as present. The net asset 
value of the furniture and equipment that was not m oved was not significant 
and was substantially disposed of as of December 31 , 2011.  See “Assets Held 
for Sale” below regarding the impairment evaluation  for the Byron Center land 
and building.  

 
As a result of continued losses in the Marine Compo nents reporting unit, we 
evaluated the recoverability of the Marine Componen ts long-lived assets during 
the third quarter of 2011.  We determined that the undiscounted cash flows 
exceed the current net asset value and therefore th e Marine Components long-
lived assets are not impaired.  However, if our fut ure cash flows from 
operations less capital expenditures were to drop s ignificantly below our 
current expectations (approximately 50% for Custom Marine and 60% for Livorsi 
Marine), it is reasonably likely we would conclude an impairment was present.  
At December 31, 2011 the net asset carrying values of Custom Marine and 
Livorsi Marine were $4.0 million and $3.8 million, respectively.  No other 
long-lived assets in our other reporting units were  tested for impairment 
during 2011 because there were no circumstances ind icating an impairment might 
exist. 

 
• Income taxes – We recognize deferred taxes for future tax effects of temporary 

differences between financial and income tax report ing. While we have 
considered future taxable income and ongoing pruden t and feasible tax planning 
strategies in assessing the need for a valuation al lowance, it is possible 
that in the future we may change our estimate of th e amount of the deferred 
income tax assets that would more-likely-than-not b e realized in the future 
resulting in an adjustment to the deferred income t ax asset valuation 
allowance that would either increase or decrease, a s applicable, reported net 
income in the period the change in estimate was mad e. 

 
We reevaluate at the end of each reporting period w hether or not some or all 
of the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsid iaries are not permanently 
reinvested (as that term is defined in GAAP).  At t he end of March 2010, and 
based primarily upon changes in our cash management  plans, we determined that 
all of the undistributed earnings of our Taiwanese subsidiary could no longer 
be considered permanently reinvested in Taiwan.  Ac cordingly, in the first 
quarter of 2010 we recognized an aggregate $1.9 mil lion provision for deferred 
income taxes on the pre-2005 undistributed earnings  of our Taiwanese 
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subsidiary.  Consequently, all of the undistributed  earnings of our non-U.S. 
operations are now considered to not be permanently  reinvested.  While we may 
have currently concluded that all of the undistribu ted earnings are not 
permanently reinvested, facts and circumstances can  change in the future, and 
it is possible that a change in facts and circumsta nces, such as a change in 
the expectation regarding the capital needs of our foreign subsidiaries, could 
result in a conclusion that some or all of the undi stributed earnings are 
permanently reinvested.  If our prior conclusions c hange, we would be required 
to derecognize a previously recognized deferred inc ome tax liability in an 
amount equal to the estimated incremental U.S. inco me tax and withholding tax  
liability related to the amount of undistributed ea rnings considered to be 
permanently reinvested. 
 
We record a reserve for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the 
provisions of ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, for tax positions where we believe 
it is more-likely-than-not our position will not pr evail with the applicable 
tax authorities.  Our reserve for uncertain tax pos itions is nil for each of 
2010, and 2011.   

 
• Accruals - We record accruals for environmental, legal and oth er contingencies 

and commitments when estimated future expenditures associated with the 
contingencies become probable, and we can reasonabl y estimate the amounts of the 
future expenditures.  However, new information may become available to us, or 
circumstances (such as applicable laws and regulati ons) may change, thereby 
resulting in an increase or decrease in the amount we are required to accrue for 
such matters (and, therefore, a corresponding decre ase or increase of our 
reported net income in the period of such change.)  

 
• Assets Held for Sale  - Our assets held for sale at December 31, 2011, c onsist of 

a facility in Byron Center, Michigan, a facility in  River Grove, Illinois and 
land in Neenah, Wisconsin.  These three properties (primarily land, buildings 
and building improvements) were formerly used in ou r operations.  In September 
of 2011, management made the decision to sell the B yron Center facility (see 
Notes 9 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statem ents), at which time the 
facility met all of the criteria under GAAP to be c lassified as an “asset held 
for sale.”  In classifying the Byron Center facilit y (land and building) as held 
for sale, we concluded that the carrying amount of the assets exceeded the 
estimated fair value less costs to sell the assets.   In determining the 
estimated fair value of the land and building, we o btained an independent 
appraisal.  Based on this appraisal, we recognized a write-down of $910,000 in 
2011 to reduce the carrying value of the asset to i ts estimated fair value less 
cost to sell.  
 
Additionally, in 2011 due to continued negative loc al market conditions, we 
obtained an updated independent appraisal for the R iver Grove facility, the most 
significant of the remaining two properties.  Based  on this appraisal, we 
recognized an additional write-down of $225,000 in 2011 to reduce the carrying 
value of that asset to its estimated fair value les s cost to sell.   
 
The write-downs as of December 31, 2011 totaled $1. 1 million and are included in 
corporate operating expense.  The appraisals repres ent a Level 2 input as 
defined by ASC 820-10-35.  All properties are being  actively marketed.  However, 
due to the current state of the commercial real est ate market, we can not be 
certain of the timing of the disposition of the ass ets.  If we continue to 
experience difficulty in disposing of the assets at  or above their carrying 
value, we may have to record additional write-downs  of the assets in the future.  
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK 
 

General .  We are exposed to market risk from changes in in terest rates, currency 
exchange rates and raw materials prices.   
 

Interest rates .  We are exposed to market risk from changes in in terest rates, 
primarily related to indebtedness. At December 31, 2010 and 2011, all of our 
outstanding indebtedness was comprised of variable- rate instruments.  The following 
table presents principal amounts, interest rates an d fair value for our outstanding 
indebtedness at December 31, 2010 and 2011.  See No te 6 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  

 
        Amount          

 
Indebtedness  

Carrying 
  value  

Fair 
  value  

Interest 
  rate   

Maturity 
  date   

 (In thousands)   
     
December 31, 2011:      
Variable-rate indebtedness -     
  Promissory note to TIMET $22,230 $22,230 1.4% 201 4 
  Revolving credit facility   1,955    1,955  4.4% 2015 
     
    Total $24,185  $24,185    
     
December 31, 2010:      
Variable-rate indebtedness -     
  Promissory note to TIMET $42,230 $42,230 1.3% 201 4 
  Revolving credit facility   3,000    3,000  3.5% 2012 
     
    Total $45,230  $45,230    

 
 
 

All of our debt is at variable interest rates.  We have performed a 
sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% ad verse movement in interest rates.  
As of December 31, 2011 the analysis indicated that  such rate movements would not 
have a material effect on our financial results fro m operations or cash flows.  
However, actual gains or losses in the future may d iffer materially from our 
analysis based on changes in the timing and amount of interest rate movement. 
 

Currency exchange rates.  We are exposed to market risk arising from changes in 
currency exchange rates as a result of manufacturin g and selling our products outside 
the United States (principally Canada and Taiwan).  A portion of our sales generated 
from our non-U.S. operations are denominated in cur rencies other than the U.S. dollar, 
principally the Canadian dollar and the New Taiwan dollar.  In addition, a substantial 
portion of our sales generated from our non-U.S. op erations are denominated in the 
U.S. dollar.  Most materials, labor and other produ ction costs for these non-U.S. 
operations are primarily denominated in local curre ncies.  As a result, the translated 
U.S. dollar value of our non-U.S. sales and operati ng results are subject to currency 
exchange rate fluctuations which may favorably or u nfavorably impact reported earnings 
and may affect comparability of period-to-period op erating results. 
 

As previously noted, certain of our sales generated  by our Canadian operations 
are denominated in U.S. dollars.  Consequently, we periodically enter into forward 
currency contracts to mitigate the financial statem ent impact of changes in currency 
exchange rates.  At each balance sheet date, outsta nding forward currency contracts 
are marked-to-market with any resulting gain or los s recognized in income currently 
unless the contract is designated as a hedge upon w hich the mark-to-market adjustment 
is recorded in other comprehensive income.  At Dece mber 31, 2011, we held a series of 
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contracts to exchange an aggregate of U.S. $17.9 mi llion for an equivalent value of 
Canadian dollars at exchange rates ranging from Cdn . $1.03 to Cdn. $0.99  per U.S. 
dollar.  These contracts qualified for hedge accoun ting and mature through December 
2012.  The exchange rate was Cdn. $1.02 per U.S. do llar at December 31, 2011.  The 
estimated fair value of the contracts was a liabili ty of approximately $19,000 at 
December 31, 2011.   We had no forward currency contracts outstanding at  December 31, 
2010. 
 

Raw materials.   We will occasionally enter into short term commodit y related 
raw material supply arrangements to mitigate the im pact of future increases in 
commodity related raw material costs.  We do not ha ve long-term supply agreements 
for our raw material requirements because either we  believe the risk of 
unavailability of those raw materials is low and we  believe the downside risk of 
price volatility to be too great or because long-te rm supply agreements for those 
materials are generally not available.  We do not e ngage in commodity raw material 
hedging programs. 
 

Other.  The above discussion includes forward-looking state ments of market risk 
which assumes hypothetical changes in market prices .  Actual future market conditions 
will likely differ materially from such assumptions .  Accordingly, such forward-
looking statements should not be considered to be o ur projections of future events, 
gains or losses.  Such forward-looking statements a re subject to certain risks and 
uncertainties some of which are listed in “Business -General.” 
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA  
 
 

The information called for by this Item is containe d in a separate section of 
this Annual Report.  See "Index of Financial Statem ents" (page F-1). 
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 

None. 
 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.  We maintain a system of 
disclosure controls and procedures.  The term "disc losure controls and procedures," 
as defined by regulations of the SEC, means control s and other procedures that are 
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we 
file or submit to the SEC under the Securities Exch ange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
"Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and repo rted, within the time periods 
specified in the SEC's rules and forms.  Disclosure  controls and procedures include, 
without limitation, controls and procedures designe d to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit to the SEC 
under the Act is accumulated and communicated to ou r management, including its 
principal executive officer and its principal finan cial officer, or persons 
performing similar functions, as appropriate to all ow timely decisions to be made 
regarding required disclosure.  Each of David A. Bo wers, our Vice Chairman of the 
Board, President and Chief Executive Officer, and D arryl R. Halbert, our Vice 
President, Chief Financial Officer and Controller, have evaluated our disclosure 
controls and procedures as of December 31, 2011.  B ased upon their evaluation, these 
executive officers have concluded that our disclosu re controls and procedures are 
effective as of the date of such evaluation.  
 

Scope of Management Report on Internal Control Over  Financial Reporting.  We 
also maintain a system of internal control over fin ancial reporting.  The term 
“internal control over financial reporting,” as def ined by regulations of the SEC, 
means a process designed by, or under the supervisi on of, our principal executive 
and principal financial officers, or persons perfor ming similar functions, and 
effected by our board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of f inancial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external pu rposes in accordance with 
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accounting principles generally accepted in the Uni ted States of America (“GAAP”), 
and includes those policies and procedures that: 
 

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reaso nable detail accurately and 
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of  our assets. 

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accor dance with GAAP, and that 
receipts and expenditures are being made only in ac cordance with 
authorizations of our management and directors, and   

• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention o r timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our  assets that could have a 
material effect on our consolidated financial state ments. 

 
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, requ ires us to include a 

management report on internal control over financia l reporting in the Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.  Under the rules of the SEC, our 
independent registered public accounting firm is no t required to, and therefore has 
not, audited our internal control over financial re porting as of December 31, 2011. 
 

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financ ial Reporting.  Our 
management is responsible for establishing and main taining adequate internal control 
over financial reporting, as such term is defined i n Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). 
Our evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal  control over financial reporting 
is based upon the framework established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations  of the Treadway Commission 
(commonly referred to as the “COSO” framework). Bas ed on our evaluation under that 
framework, our management has concluded that our in ternal control over financial 
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011.   

 
This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered 

public accounting firm regarding internal control o ver financial reporting.  
Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public 
accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that p ermit us to provide only 
management’s report in this annual report.  See “Sc ope of Management’s Report on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” above. 

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportin g.  There has been no 

change to our system of internal control over finan cial reporting during the quarter 
ended December 31, 2011 that has materially affecte d, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our system of internal control o ver financial reporting. 
 

Certifications.  Our chief executive officer and chief financial off icer are 
required to, among other things, quarterly file a c ertification with the SEC 
regarding the quality of our public disclosures, as  required by Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  We have filed the cert ifications for the quarter ended 
December 31, 2011 as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this  Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 
 

Not applicable. 
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PART III 
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE 
 

The information required by this Item is incorporat ed by reference to our 
definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Sec urities and Exchange Commission 
pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after th e end of the fiscal year covered by 
this report ("Proxy Statement"). 
 
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 

The information required by this Item is incorporat ed by reference to our Proxy 
Statement. 
 
 
ITEM 12 .  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND     

RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 

The information required by this Item is incorporat ed by reference to our Proxy 
Statement. 
 
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 
 

The information required by this Item is incorporat ed by reference to our Proxy 
Statement.  See also Note 12 to the Consolidated Fi nancial Statements. 
 
 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 
 

The information required by this Item is incorporat ed by reference to our Proxy 
Statement. 
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PART IV 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 
 
(a) and (c) Financial Statements 
 

The consolidated financial statements listed on the  accompanying Index of 
Financial Statements (see page F-1) are filed as pa rt of this Annual Report. 

 
All financial statement schedules have been omitted  either because they are 
not applicable or required, or the information that  would be required to be 
included is disclosed in the notes to the consolida ted financial statements. 

 
(b) Exhibits 
 

We have retained a signed original of any of these exhibits that contain 
signatures, and we will provide such exhibits to th e Commission or its staff.  
Included as exhibits are the items listed in the Ex hibit Index.  We, upon 
request, will furnish a copy of any of the exhibits  listed below upon payment of 
$4.00 per exhibit to cover our costs of furnishing the exhibits.  Instruments 
defining the rights of holders of long-term debt is sues which do not exceed 10% 
of consolidated total assets will be furnished to t he Commission upon request.  
We, upon request, will also furnish, without charge , a copy of our Amended and 
Restated Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as ad opted by the board of 
directors on February 22, 2012, upon request.  Such  requests should be directed 
to the attention of our Corporate Secretary at our corporate offices located at 
5430 LBJ Freeway, Suite 1700, Dallas, Texas 75240. 

 
Item No.                             Exhibit Item  
 
 
  
 3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Regis trant –  incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Regist ration Stat ement 
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-42643). 

  
 3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant, adopted by the Board of 

Directors October 24, 2007 – incorporated by refere nce to Exhibit 3.1  
of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K file d October 30, 2007  
(File No 1-13905). 

  
 10.1 Intercorporate Services Agreement between the Regis trant and Contran 

Corporation effective as of January 1, 2004 –  incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Annua l Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003 (File No.  1-13905). 

  
 10.2* CompX International Inc. 1997 Long-Term Ince ntive Plan –  incorporated 

by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Re gistration 
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-42643). 

  
 10.3 Tax Sharing Agreement between the Registrant,  NL Industries, Inc. and 

Contran Corporation dated as of October 5, 2004 – i ncorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Registrant’s Annua l Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.4 Form o f Subordination Agreement among the Registrant, TIM ET Finance 

Management Company, CompX Security Products Inc., C ompX Precision 
Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc.,  Livorsi Marine 
Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association as admini strative a gent for 
itself, Compass Bank and Comerica Bank –  incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on 
October 22, 2007 (File No. 1-13905). 
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Item No.                         Exhibit Item (continued)  
 
  
 10.5 First Amendment to Subordination Agreement dated as of the Septembe r 

21, 2009 by TIMET Finance Management Company and Wa chovia Bank,  
National Association –  incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of 
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed o n Sep tember 24, 
2009 (File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.6 Amended and Restated Subordinated Term Loan Promiss ory Note dated 

September 21, 2009 in the original principal amount  of $42,230,190 
payable to the order of TIMET Finance Management Co mpany by the 
Registrant – incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on September 24, 2009 
(File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.7 
 
 

Agreement Regarding Shared Insurance among  the Registrant, Contran 
Corporation, Keystone Consolidated Indus tries, Inc., Kronos 
Worldwide, Inc., NL Industries, Inc., Titanium Meta ls Corporation , 
and Valhi, Inc. dated October 30, 2003 –  incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.12 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the 
year ended December 31, 2003 (File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.8 $50,000,000 Credit Agreement between the Registrant  and Wachovia 

Bank, National Association, as Agent and various le nding institutions 
dated December 23, 2005 –  incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 
of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended 
December 31, 2009 (File No. 1-13905.) 

   
 10.9 First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of Oct ober 16, 2007 

among the Registrant , CompX Security Products Inc., CompX Precision 
Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc., Livorsi Marine 
Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association for itsel f and as 
administrative agent for Compass Bank and Comerica Bank -  
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Re gistrant’ s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 22, 2007 (File No. 1-13905). 

   
 10.10 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of Ja nuary 15, 2009 

among   the Registrant, CompX Security Products Inc ., CompX Precision 
Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc.,  Livorsi Marine 
Inc., Wac hovia Bank, National Association for itself and as 
administrative agent for Compass Bank and Comerica Bank -  
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1  of the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 21, 2009 (File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.11 T hird Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of Sept ember 21, 2009 by 

and among the Registrant , CompX Security Products Inc., CompX 
Precision Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Ma rine Inc., Livorsi 
Marine Inc., Wachovia Bank, National Association an d Comerica Bank -  
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Re gistrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 24, 2009 (Fil e No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.12 Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated a s of May 10, 2010 among  

the Registrant, CompX Se curity Products Inc., CompX Precision Slides 
Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc., Livors i Marine, Inc., 
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as successo r-by- merger to 
Wachovia Bank, National Association and Comerica Ba nk –  incorporated 
by refere nce to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrant’s Current Re port on 
Form 8-K filed on May 19, 2010 (File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.13 Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of Jul y 26, 2011 among 

CompX International Inc., CompX Security Products I nc., CompX 
Preci sion Slides Inc., CompX Marine Inc., Custom Marine Inc., Livorsi 
Marine, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, National Associatio n and Comerica 
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Bank –  incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the R egistrant’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 2, 20 11 (File No. 1-
13905). 

  
 10.14 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of J anuary 13, 2012 

between CompX International Inc. and Wells Fargo Ba nk, National 
Association –  incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Ja nuary 17, 2012  
(File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.15**  Second Amended and Restated U nsecured Revolving Demand Promissory 

Note dated December 13, 2011  between the Registrant and NL 
Industries, Inc. 

  
 10.16 Mortgage Note, dated October 15, 2008  executed by Sayreville Seaport 

Associates, L.P. and payable to the order of NL Ind ustries, Inc. and 
NL Environmental Management Services, Inc. –  incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the Registrant’s Curr ent Report on Form 
8-K filed on May 19, 2010 (File No. 1-13905). 

    
 10.17 Leasehold Mortgage, Assignment, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing 

dated October 15, 2008 executed by Sayreville Seapo rt Associates, 
L.P. in favor of NL Industries, Inc. and NL Environ mental Management 
Services, Inc. –  incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the 
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on May 19, 2010 (File 
No. 1-13905). 

    
 10.18 Intercreditor, Subordination and Standstill Agreeme nt, dated 

October 15, 2008 executed by NL Industries, Inc., NL Environmental 
Management Services, Inc., Bank of America, N.A. on  behalf of itself 
and the other financial institutions, and acknowled ged and consented 
to by Sayreville Seaport Associates, L.P. and J. Br ian O'Neill –  
incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.3 of the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 19, 2010 (File No. 1-13905). 

    
 10.19 Multi- Party Agreement dated October 15, 2008 among Sayrev ille Seaport 

Associates, L.P., Sayreville Seaport Associates Acq uisition Company, 
LLC, OPG Participation, LLC, J. Brian O'Neill, NL Industries , Inc., 
NL Environmental Management Services, Inc., The Pru dential Insurance 
Company of America and Sayreville PRISA II LLC –  incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Curre nt Report on  Form 
8-K filed on May 19, 2010 (File No. 1-13905). 

    
 10.20 Guaranty Agreement dated October 15, 2008 executed by J. Brian 

O’Neill in favor of NL Industries, Inc. and NL Envi ronmental 
Management Services, Inc. – incorporated by referen ce to Exhibit 10 .5 
of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on May 19, 2010 
(File No. 1-13905). 

  
 10.21 Bill of Sale, Assignment and Assumption Agreement d ated May 13, 2010 

between the NL Industries, Inc., NL Environmental M anagement 
Services, Inc. and the Registrant –  incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.11 of the Registrant’s Current Report on  Form 8- K filed on 
May 19, 2010 (File No. 1-13905). 
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Item No.                         Exhibit Item (continued)  
 
  
 21.1** Subsidiaries of the Registrant. 
  
 23.1** Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. 
  
 31.1** Certification 
  
 31.2** Certification 
  
 32.1** Certification 
  
 101.INS  XBRL Instance Document 
  
 101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 
  
 101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
  
 101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
  
 101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
  
 101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
  

 
 
 

* Management contract, compensatory plan or agreeme nt. 
 
** Filed herewith.   
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SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d)  of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this re port to be signed on its behalf 
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 

COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. 
 
Date:  March 2, 2012 By:  /s/ David A. Bowers                   

David A. Bowers 
Vice Chairman of the Board, 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exch ange Act of 1934, this 

report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates 
indicated. 
 

Signature   Title   Date  
     

/s/ Glenn R. Simmons     
Glenn R. Simmons 

 Chairman of the Board 
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
 

(In thousands, except share data) 
 
 

    December 31,    
ASSETS   2010     2011   

   
Current assets:   
  Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,919 $ 10,081 
  Accounts receivable, less allowance for 
   doubtful accounts of $389 and $401 

 
14,601 

 
14,246 

  Inventories 18,424 19,578 
  Deferred income taxes 2,366 2,495 
  Promissory note receivable   15,000       -  
  Prepaid expenses and other    1,050     1,025  
   
    Total current assets   65,360    47,425  
   
Other assets:   
  Goodwill 31,452 34,186 
  Other intangible assets 840 2,045 
  Assets held for sale 2,415 6,649 
  Other      102        94  
   
    Total other assets   34,809    42,974  
   
Property and equipment:   
  Land 12,646 11,321 
  Buildings 39,934 32,255 
  Equipment 123,725 124,100 
  Construction in progress      965     1,477  
 177,270 169,153 
   
  Less accumulated depreciation  117,367   118,026  
   
    Net property and equipment   59,903    51,127  
   
Total assets $160,072  $141,526  
   
 



 
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial St atements. 
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED) 
 

(In thousands, except share data) 
 
 

    December 31,    
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY   2010     2011   

   
Current liabilities:   
  Current maturities of note payable to affiliate $   1,000  $  1,000 
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 16,182  16,240 
  Interest payable to affiliate 876  -  
  Income taxes payable to affiliates and other 1,08 7 194 
  Income taxes      907     1,326  
 
     Total current liabilities   20,052    18,760  
   
Noncurrent liabilities:   
  Long-term debt 44,230  23,185 
  Deferred income taxes 11,889  14,166 
  Other        6       705  
   
     Total noncurrent liabilities   56,125    38,056  
   
Stockholders' equity:   
  Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 1,000 shares  
   authorized, none issued 

 
-  

 
-  

  Class A common stock, $.01 par value;  
   20,000,000 shares authorized; 2,375,307 and  
   2,386,107 shares issued and outstanding 

 
 

24 

 
 

24 
  Class B common stock, $.01 par value; 
   10,000,000 shares authorized, issued and outstan ding 

 
100  

 
100 

  Additional paid-in capital 54,982  55,125 
  Retained earnings  16,486  17,967 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income    12,303    11,494  
   
     Total stockholders' equity    83,895    84,710  
   
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $160,072  $141,526  
   
 
 
 
 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13) 



 
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial St atements. 
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

 
(In thousands, except per share data) 

 
 
 
 
    Years Ended December 31,   
   2009     2010     2011   
    
Net sales $116,125 $135,264 $138,835 
Cost of goods sold  92,345    99,273   103,637  
    
     Gross profit 23,780 35,991 35,198 
    
Selling, general and administrative expense 22,250 23,241 24,268 
Other operating income (expense):    
  Assets held for sale write-down (717)  (500)  (1,135) 
  Litigation settlement gain -  -  7,468 
  Litigation expense (4,613)  (2,388) (227) 
  Facility consolidation costs -  (177)  (1,973) 
  Currency transaction gains (losses), net     (236 )      (354 )       410  
    
     Operating income (loss) (4,036)  9,331 15,473 
    
Other non-operating income, net 45 379 424 
Interest expense   (1,060 )      (914 )      (804 ) 
    
     Income (loss) before income taxes  (5,051)  8,796 15,093 
    
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    (3,058 )     5,744     7,420  
    
     Net income (loss) $ (1,993 )  $  3,052  $  7,673  
    
    
    
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per  
  common share 

 
$   (.16 )  

 
$    .25  

 
$    .62  

    
Cash dividends per share $    .50  $    .50  $    .50  
    
    
    
    
  Basic and diluted weighted average 
    shares outstanding 

 
  12,367  

 
  12,373  

 
  12,382  

    
 
 



 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial St atements. 
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
 

(In thousands) 
 
 
 
     Years Ended December 31,     
   2009     2010     2011   
    
Net income (loss) $(1,993 ) $ 3,052  $ 7,673  
    
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:     
  Currency translation adjustment     1,998 1,949 ( 813) 
    

Impact from cash flow hedges, net    (126 )      -        4  
    
    Total other comprehensive income  
     (loss), net 

 
  1,872  

 
  1,949  

 
   (809 ) 

    
Comprehensive income (loss) $  (121 ) $ 5,001  $ 6,864  

    
 



 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial St atements. 
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

(In thousands) 
 
    Years Ended December 31,   
   2009     2010     2011   
    
Cash flows from operating activities:    
  Net income (loss) $ (1,993)  $  3,052 $  7,673 
  Depreciation and amortization 8,209 7,676 6,778 
  Deferred income taxes (2,093)  (756) 1,981 
  Provision for inventory reserves 1,022 556 255 
  Assets held for sale write-down 717 500 1,135 
  Other, net 458 174 357 
  Change in assets and liabilities (net of the 
    effect of acquisition): 

   

    Accounts receivable, net 5,318 (2,669) 518 
    Inventories, net 5,878 (2,482) (439)  
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (356)  1,700 (1,810)  
      Accounts with affiliates (15)  2,520 (839)  
      Income taxes (2,778)  2,704 471 
      Other, net      899        44      (108 )  
    
     Net cash provided by operating activities   15 ,266    13,019    15,972  
    
    
Cash flows from investing activities:    
  Capital expenditures (2,321)  (2,120) (3,195)  
  Acquisition, net of cash acquired -  -  (4,752)  
  Purchase of promissory note receivable  -  (15,00 0) -  
  Note receivable from affiliate:    
  Advances  -  (9,000) -  
  Collections -  9,000 -  
  Proceeds from sale of fixed assets -   -  184 
  Cash collected on promissory notes receivable      261        -    15,000  
    
     Net cash provided by (used in)investing 
       activities 

 
  (2,060 )  

 
 (17,120 )

 
   7,237  

    
    
Cash flows from financing activities:    
  Borrowings under long-term debt -  5,000 5,294 
  Repayment of long-term debt -  (2,000) (5,898)  
  Repayment of loan from affiliate (750)  -  (20,000)  
  Dividends paid (6,184)  (6,187) (6,192)  
  Other, net     (133 )       (28 )       62  
    
     Net cash used in financing activities   (7,067 )    (3,215 )  (26,734 )  
    
Net increase (decrease) $  6,139  $ (7,316 ) $ (3,525 )  
 



 
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial St atements. 
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 

 
(In thousands) 

 
     Years Ended December 31,     
   2009     2010     2011   
    
Cash and cash equivalents:    
  Net increase (decrease) from -     
   Operating, investing and financing activities  $   6,139  $ (7,316)   $ (3,525)  
   Effect of exchange rate on cash 238 447 (313)  
   Balance at beginning of year     14,411    20,788    13,919  
    
  Balance at end of year  $ 20,788   $ 13,919   $  10,081  
    
    
Supplemental disclosures:    
  Cash paid for:     

Interest  $   1,246  $ 278  $ 1,611 
Income taxes 1,819 1,241 5,822 

    
    
  Noncash investing and financing activities:      

Accrual for capital expenditures  $    101   $ 159  $ 178 
    

 



 
 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial St atements. 
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 

Years ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 
 

(In thousands) 
 

    Accumulated other 
    comprehensive income     

 

  
  Common stock    

Additional 
paid-in 

 
Retained 

 
Currency 

 
Hedging 

Total 
stockholders'  

 Class A  Class B    Capital   earnings  translation   derivatives     equity    
        
Balance at December 31, 2008 $  24 $100 $54,873 $27 ,798 $ 8,356 $126  $91,277 
        
Net loss -  -  -  (1,993) -  -  (1,993) 
Other comprehensive income -  -  -  -  1,998 (126) 1,872 
Cash dividends -  -  -  (6,184) -  -  (6,184) 
Issuance of common stock and 
  other, net 

 
  -  

 
  -  

 
      55  

 
     -  

 
     -  

 
  -  

 
      55  

        
Balance at December 31, 2009  24 100  54,928 19,621  10,354  -   85,027 
        
Net income -  -  -  3,052 -  -  3,052 
Other comprehensive income -  -  -  -  1,949 -  1,9 49 
Cash dividends -  -  -  (6,187) -  -  (6,187) 
Issuance of common stock and 
  other, net 

 
  -  

 
  -  

 
      54  

 
     -  

 
     -  

 
  -  

 
      54  

        
Balance at December 31, 2010  24 100  54,982 16,486  12,303  -   83,895 
        
Net income -  -  -  7,673 -  -  7,673 
Other comprehensive loss -  -  -  -  (813) 4  (809)  
Cash dividends -  -  -  (6,192) -  -  (6,192) 
Issuance of common stock and 
  other, net 

 
  -  

 
  -  

 
     143  

 
     -  

 
     -  

 
  -  

 
     143  

        
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 24  $100  $ 55,125  $17,967  $11,490  $  4  $ 84,710  
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COMPX INTERNATIONAL INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

December 31, 2011 
 
Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies : 
 

Organization.  We (NYSE Amex: CIX) are 87% owned by NL Industries,  Inc. (NYSE: 
NL) at December 31, 2011.  We manufacture and sell component products (security 
products, precision ball bearing slides, ergonomic computer support systems and 
performance marine components).  At December 31, 20 11, (i) Valhi, Inc. holds 
approximately 83% of NL’s outstanding common stock and (ii) subsidiaries of Contran 
Corporation hold approximately 95% of Valhi’s outst anding common stock.  
Substantially all of Contran's outstanding voting s tock is held by trusts 
established for the benefit of certain children and  grandchildren of Harold C. 
Simmons (of which Mr. Simmons is sole trustee), or is held by Mr. Simmons or persons 
or other entities related to Mr. Simmons.  Conseque ntly, Mr. Simmons may be deemed 
to control each of these companies and us. 
 

Unless otherwise indicated, references in this repo rt to “we,” “us,” or “our” 
refer to CompX International Inc. and its subsidiar ies, taken as a whole. 
 

Management estimates.  In preparing our financial statements in conformity  with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the Uni ted States of America (“GAAP”) we 
are required to make estimates and assumptions that  affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent  assets and liabilities at each 
balance sheet date and the reported amounts of our revenues and expenses during each 
reporting period.  Actual results may differ signif icantly from previously estimated 
amounts under different assumptions or conditions. 
 

Principles of consolidation.  Our consolidated financial statements include 
the accounts of CompX International Inc. and our wh olly-owned subsidiaries.  We 
eliminate all material intercompany accounts and ba lances.   
 

Fiscal year.  Our fiscal year end is always the Sunday closest to  December 31, 
and our operations are reported on a 52 or 53-week fiscal year.  The year ended 
December 31, 2009 consisted of 53 weeks.  Each of t he years ended December 31, 2010 
and December 31, 2011 consisted of 52 weeks. 
 

Translation of foreign currencies.  We translate the assets and liabilities of 
our subsidiaries whose functional currency is not t he U.S. dollar at year-end rates 
of exchange, while we translate their revenues and expenses at average exchange rates 
prevailing during the year.  We accumulate the resu lting translation adjustments in 
stockholders' equity as part of accumulated other c omprehensive income, net of 
related deferred income taxes.  We recognize curren cy transaction gains and losses in 
income. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents.  We classify as cash and cash equivalents bank time 
deposits and government and commercial notes and bi lls with original maturities of 
three months or less. 

 
Net sales.  We record sales when products are shipped and title  and other 

risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the c ustomer.  Amounts charged to 
customers for shipping and handling are not materia l.  Sales are stated net of 
price, early payment and distributor discounts and volume rebates.  We report any 
tax assessed by a governmental authority that we co llect from our customers that is 
both imposed on and concurrent with our revenue pro ducing activities (such as sales, 
use, value added and excise taxes) on a net basis ( meaning we do not recognize these 
taxes either in our revenues or in our costs and ex penses). 
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Accounts receivable.  We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts for k nown 
and estimated potential losses rising from our sale s to customers based on a 
periodic review of these accounts.   
 

Inventories and cost of sales.  We state  inventories at the lower of cost or 
market, net of allowance for obsolete and slow-movi ng inventories.  We generally 
base inventory costs for all inventory categories o n average cost that approximates 
the first-in, first-out method.  Inventories includ e the costs for raw materials, 
the cost to manufacture the raw materials into fini shed goods and overhead.  
Depending on the inventory’s stage of completion, o ur manufacturing costs can 
include the costs of packing and finishing, utiliti es, maintenance and depreciation, 
shipping and handling, and salaries and benefits as sociated with our manufacturing 
process.  We allocate fixed manufacturing overheads  based on normal production 
capacity.  Unallocated overhead costs resulting fro m periods with abnormally low 
production levels are charged to expense as incurre d.  As inventory is sold to third 
parties, we recognize the cost of sales in the same  period that the sale occurs.  We 
periodically review our inventory for estimated obs olescence or instances when 
inventory is no longer marketable for its intended use, and we record any write-down 
equal to the difference between the cost of invento ry and its estimated net 
realizable value based on assumptions about alterna tive uses, market conditions and 
other factors. 
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses; advertising costs.  Selling, 
general and administrative expenses include costs r elated to marketing, sales, 
distribution, research and development and administ rative functions such as 
accounting, treasury and finance, and includes cost s for salaries and benefits, 
travel and entertainment, promotional materials and  professional fees.  We expense 
advertising and research and development costs as i ncurred.  Advertising costs were 
approximately $466,000 in 2009, $369,000 in 2010, a nd $467,000 in 2011.   
 

Goodwill and other intangible assets; amortization expense.   Goodwill 
represents the excess of cost over fair value of in dividual net assets acquired in 
business combinations.  Goodwill is not subject to periodic amortization.  We 
amortize other intangible assets, consisting princi pally of certain acquired patents 
and tradenames, using the straight line method over  their estimated lives and state 
them net of accumulated amortization.  We evaluate goodwill for impairment, 
annually, or when circumstances indicate the carryi ng value may not be recoverable.  
We evaluate other intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not b e recoverable.  See Note 4.   
 

Property and equipment; depreciation expense.  We state property and 
equipment, including purchased computer software fo r internal use, at cost.  We 
compute depreciation of property and equipment for financial reporting purposes 
principally by the straight-line method over the es timated useful lives of 15 to 40 
years for buildings and 3 to 20 years for equipment  and software.  We use 
accelerated depreciation methods for income tax pur poses, as permitted.  
Depreciation expense was $7.6 million in 2009, $7.1  million in 2010, and $6.2 
million in 2011.  Upon sale or retirement of an ass et, the related cost and 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accou nts and any gain or loss is 
recognized in income currently.  Expenditures for m aintenance, repairs and minor 
renewals are expensed; expenditures for major impro vements are capitalized. 
 

We perform impairment tests when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
the carrying value may not be recoverable.  We cons ider all relevant factors.  We 
perform the impairment test by comparing the estima ted future undiscounted cash 
flows associated with the asset to the asset’s net carrying value to determine if 
impairment exists.   

 
Employee benefit plans.  We maintain various defined contribution plans in 

which we make contributions based on matching or ot her formulas.  Defined 
contribution plan expense approximated $1.5 million  in 2009, $1.9 million in 2010 and 
$2.1 million in 2011. 
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Self-insurance.  We are partially self-insured for workers' compensa tion and 
certain employee health benefits and self-insured f or most environmental issues.  We 
purchase coverage in order to limit our exposure to  any significant levels of 
workers' compensation or employee health benefit cl aims.  We accrue self-insured 
losses based upon estimates of the aggregate liabil ity for uninsured claims incurred 
using certain actuarial assumptions followed in the  insurance industry and our own 
historical claims experience. 
 

Derivatives and hedging activities.  We recognize derivatives as either an 
asset or liability measured at fair value in accord ance with ASC Topic 815, 
Derivatives and Hedging.  We recognize the effect of changes in the fair v alue of 
derivatives either in net income or other comprehen sive income, depending on the 
intended use of the derivative.  See Note 14. 
 

Income taxes.  We, and our parent NL, are members of the Contran T ax Group.  
We have been and currently are a part of the consol idated tax returns filed by 
Contran in certain United States state jurisdiction s.  As a member of the Contran 
Tax Group, we are jointly and severally liable for the federal income tax liability 
of Contran and the other companies included in the Contran Tax Group for all periods 
in which we are included in the Contran Tax Group.  See Note 13. 
 

As a member of the Contran Tax Group, we are a part y to a tax sharing 
agreement which provides that we compute our provis ion for U.S. income taxes on a 
separate-company basis. Pursuant to the tax sharing  agreement, we make payments to 
or receive payments from NL in amounts we would hav e paid to or received from the 
U.S. Internal Revenue Service or the applicable sta te tax authority had we not been 
a member of the Contran Tax Group. The separate com pany provisions and payments are 
computed using the tax elections made by Contran.  Under certain circumstances, such 
tax elections could require Contran to treat items differently than we would on a 
stand alone basis, and in such instances GAAP requi res us to conform to Contran’s 
tax election. We received a net refund from NL of a pproximately $360,000 in 2009.  
We made net cash payments for taxes to NL of $2.2 m illion in 2010 and $3.7 million 
in 2011.  

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are reco gnized for the expected 

future tax consequences of temporary differences be tween the income tax and 
financial reporting carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, including 
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that  are not permanently reinvested. 
At December 31, 2010 and 2011, we had no earnings o f foreign subsidiaries subject to 
permanent reinvestment plans.  We periodically eval uate our deferred tax assets in 
the various taxing jurisdictions in which we operat e and adjust any related 
valuation allowance based on the estimate of the am ount of such deferred tax assets 
which we believe do not meet the more-likely-than-n ot recognition criteria.  See 
Note 7.   
 

We record a reserve for uncertain tax positions for  tax positions where we 
believe it is more-likely-than-not our position wil l not prevail with the applicable 
tax authorities.  Our reserve for uncertain tax pos itions was nil in each of 2010 
and 2011. 

  
Earnings per share.  Basic earnings per share of common stock is compute d using 

the weighted average number of common shares actual ly outstanding during each period.  
Diluted earnings per share of common stock includes  the impact of outstanding 
dilutive stock options.  The weighted average numbe r of outstanding stock options 
excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings p er share because their impact 
would have been antidilutive aggregated approximate ly 91,000 in 2009, 27,000 in 2010 
and 9,200 in 2011. 
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Note 2 - Business and geographic segments: 
 

Our operating segments are defined as components of  our operations about which 
separate financial information is available that is  regularly evaluated by our chief 
operating decision maker in determining how to allo cate resources and in assessing 
performance.  We have three operating segments – Se curity Products, Furniture 
Components and Marine Components.   

 
The Security Products segment, with a facility in S outh Carolina and a 

facility shared with Marine Components in Illinois,  manufactures locking mechanisms 
and other security products for sale to the office furniture, transportation, 
postal, banking, vending and other industries.   

 
The Furniture Components segment, with facilities i n Canada and Taiwan, 

manufactures and distributes a complete line of pre cision ball bearing slides and 
ergonomic computer support systems for use in offic e furniture, computer-related 
equipment, tool storage cabinets, appliances and ot her applications.   

 
Our Marine Components segment, with a facility in W isconsin and a facility 

shared with Security Products in Illinois, manufact ures and distributes marine 
instruments, hardware and accessories primarily for  performance boats. 

 
In July of 2011, we completed the acquisition of 10 0% of the stock of a 

Canadian ergonomic component products company for i nitial cash consideration of the 
equivalent of approximately $4.8 million, net of ap proximately $3,000 of cash 
acquired, with potential additional cash considerat ion ranging from nil to 
approximately $1.5 million payable in the first qua rter of 2013, contingent upon the 
acquired business achieving certain acquired produc t line sales targets during 2012.  
The estimated fair value of the contingent consider ation at December 31, 2011 was 
$705,000.  The acquisition is intended to expand ou r Furniture Components ergonomics 
product line.  We have included the results of oper ations and cash flows of the 
acquired business in our Consolidated Financial Sta tements subsequent to the 
acquisition date. The purchase price has been alloc ated among net assets acquired, 
consisting of (i) net working capital (receivable, inventory and payables) of 
$879,000, (ii) identifiable intangibles other than goodwill of $1.9 million, (iii) 
goodwill of $3.1 million and (iv) deferred income t ax liabilities of $417,000.  The 
tangible and intangible net assets acquired (other than goodwill) were valued based 
upon an estimate of the fair value of such net asse ts, with the remainder of the 
purchase price allocated to goodwill.  The business  had net sales of $4.2 million in 
2010 and the pro-forma effect to us, assuming this acquisition had been completed as 
of January 1, 2011, is not material.  

 
The chief operating decision maker evaluates segmen t performance based on 

segment operating income, which is defined as incom e before income taxes, and 
interest expense, exclusive of certain general corp orate income and expense items 
(primarily interest income) and certain non-recurri ng items (such as gains or losses 
on the disposition of business units and other long -lived assets outside the 
ordinary course of business).  The accounting polic ies of the reportable operating 
segments are the same as those described in Note 1.   Capital expenditures include 
additions to property and equipment, but exclude am ounts attributable to business 
combinations. 
 

Segment assets are comprised of all assets attribut able to the reportable 
segments.  Corporate assets are not attributable to  the operating segments and 
consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, notes receivable and assets held for 
sale.  See Note 10.  For geographic information, ne t sales are attributable to the 
place of manufacture (point of origin) and the loca tion of the customer (point of 
destination); property and equipment are attributab le to their physical location.  
At December 31, 2010 and 2011, the net assets of no n-U.S. subsidiaries included in 
consolidated net assets approximated $30.4 million and $36.8 million, respectively.  
Intersegment sales are not material. 
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     Years ended December 31,    
   2009     2010     2011   
 (In thousands)  
Net sales:    
  Security Products $ 61,429 $ 68,006 $ 71,396 
  Furniture Components 48,212 59,125 59,021 
  Marine Components    6,484     8,133     8,418  
    
Total $116,125  $135,264  $138,835  
    
Operating income (loss):    
  Security Products $  9,714 $ 13,066 $ 14,361 
  Furniture Components (4,693) (a ) 3,447 (a) 9,059 (a)

  Marine Components (3,046) (1,432) (1,223) 
  Corporate   (6,011 ) (b )   (5,750 ) (b)   (6,724 ) (b )

    
   Total operating income (loss) (4,036) 9,331 15,4 73 
    
  Other non-operating income, net 45 379 424 
  Interest expense   (1,060 )     (914 )     (804 ) 
    
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (5,051 ) $  8,796  $ 15,093  
 
 
Depreciation and amortization:    
  Security Products $  3,560 $  3,383 $  2,976 
  Furniture Components 3,475 3,191 2,853 
  Marine Components 1,170 1,099 907 
  Corporate        4         3        42  
    
Total $  8,209  $  7,676  $  6,778  
 
 

   

Capital expenditures:    
  Security Products $  1,361 $    771 $  1,804 
  Furniture Components 1,010 1,096 1,346 
  Marine Components       51      271      187 
  Corporate       -       141        36  
    
Total $  2,422  $  2,279  $  3,373  
 
 
 
(a) Furniture Components operating income includes the following:  

• a 2011 patent litigation settlement gain of $7.5 mi llion as discussed in Note 
13;  

• facility consolidation costs of approximately $177, 000 and $2.0 million at 
December 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively, as discus sed in Note 9; and 

• patent litigation expenses of $4.6 million, $2.4 mi llion and $227,000 at 
December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.  Se e Note 13. 

 
(b) Corporate operating expenses include write-down s to our assets held for sale of 
$717,000 in 2009, $500,000 in 2010 and $1.1 million  in 2011.  See Note 10. 
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   Years ended December 31,   
   2009    2010     2011   
 (In thousands) 
    
Net sales:    
  Point of origin:    
    United States $ 84,786 $ 95,979 $ 85,400 
    Canada 29,065 36,122 51,450 
    Taiwan 5,811 8,820 9,344 
    Eliminations   (3,537 )   (5,657 )   (7,359 ) 
    
Total $116,125  $135,264  $138,835  
 
 

   

  Point of destination:    
    United States $ 95,974 $111,848 $117,217 
    Canada 10,445 12,933 12,072 
    Other    9,706    10,483     9,546  
    
Total $116,125  $135,264  $138,835  
    
    
Total assets:    
  Security Products $ 70,938 $ 68,929 $ 69,185 
  Furniture Components 54,512 52,761 50,174 
  Marine Components 12,118 11,337 10,531 
  Corporate and eliminations   16,479    27,045    11,636  
    
Total $154,047  $160,072  $141,526  
 
 

   

Net property and equipment:    
  United States $ 47,086 $ 42,570 $ 33,704 
  Canada 9,224 9,444 9,681 
  Taiwan    7,326     7,889     7,742  
    
Total $ 63,636  $ 59,903  $ 51,127  
    
 
Note 3 – Inventories: 
 
    December 31,   
   2010   2011  
 (In thousands) 
Raw materials:   
  Security Products $ 2,174 $ 2,510 
  Furniture Components 3,325 3,314 
  Marine Components     894      933  
   
    Total raw materials   6,393    6,757  
   
Work-in-process:   
  Security Products 5,178 5,778 
  Furniture Components 1,068 1,260 
  Marine Components     434      399  
   
    Total work-in-process   6,680    7,437  
   
Finished goods:   
  Security Products 1,720 1,700 
  Furniture Components 2,717 2,994 
  Marine Components     914      690  
   
    Total finished goods   5,351    5,384  
   
Total inventories, net $18,424  $19,578  
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Note 4 – Goodwill and other intangible assets: 
 

We have assigned goodwill to each of our reporting units (as that term is 
defined in ASC Topic 350-20-20, Goodwill) which correspond to our operating 
segments.  We test for goodwill impairment at the r eporting unit level.  In 
accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 350-2 0-20, we review goodwill for each 
of our three reporting units for impairment during the third quarter of each year or 
when circumstances arise that indicate an impairmen t might be present.  In 
determining the estimated fair value of the reporti ng units, we use appropriate 
valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flows .  Such discounted cash flows are 
a Level 3 input as defined by ASC 820-10-35.  If th e carrying amount of goodwill 
exceeds its implied fair value, an impairment charg e is recorded. 
 

During 2009 due to continued unfavorable economic t rends associated with our 
Furniture Components reporting unit including, amon g other things, sales and 
operating income falling materially below our proje ctions, we re-evaluated goodwill 
associated with this reporting unit at the first an d second interim periods of 2009, 
along with the annual testing date in the third qua rter.  At each interim and annual 
testing date, we concluded that no impairments were  present.   

 
As operations improved in 2010 and 2011, goodwill f or all applicable reporting 

units was tested for impairment only in the third q uarter of each year in connection 
with our annual testing date.  No impairment was in dicated as part of our 2010 or 
2011 annual review of goodwill.  In 2008, we record ed a $9.9 million goodwill 
impairment in our Marine Components Segment.  Our g ross goodwill at December 31, 
2011 is $44.1 million. 
 

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill related to our operations during 
the past three years are presented in the table bel ow.  Goodwill acquired in 2011 
relates to the acquisition of an ergonomic componen ts product business included in 
our Furniture Components operating segment.  See No te 2.  The remaining net goodwill 
balance was generated from acquisitions relating to  Security Products and Furniture 
Components prior to 2001. 
 
 
 Security 

Products  
Furniture 

Components  Total  

 (In millions) 
    
Balance at December 31, 2008 $23.7 $ 7.1 $30.8 
    
Changes in currency exchange rates     -   0.1     0.1  
    
Balance at December 31, 2009 23.7 7.2 30.9 
    
Changes in currency exchange rates    -   0.5     0.5   
    
Balance at December 31, 2010  23.7  7.7  31.4 
    
Goodwill acquired during the year    -   3.1    3.1   
    
Changes in currency exchange rates    -   (0.3 )   (0.3 )  
    
Balance at December 31, 2011 $23.7  $10.5   $34.2   

 
 
Other intangible assets totaled $840,000 and $2.0 m illion net of accumulated 

amortization of $4.6 million and $3.8 million at De cember 31, 2010 and 2011, 
respectively.  The increase in intangible assets in  2011 is also related to the 
acquisition of the ergonomic component products bus iness mentioned above.  See Note 
2. 
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Amortization of intangible assets was $588,000 in 2 009, $562,000 in 2010, and 

$549,000 in 2011, respectively.  Estimated aggregat e intangible asset amortization 
expense for the next five years is as follows: 

 
 Years ending December 31,  Amount  
 (In thousands) 
  
      2012 $  649 
      2013 380 
      2014 185 
      2015    161  
      2016    138  
      Thereafter    532  
  
 Total $2,045  
 
 
Note 5 - Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 
 
    December 31,  
  2010   2011  
 (In thousands) 
   
Accounts payable $ 4,890 $ 6,203 
Accrued liabilities:   
  Employee benefits 8,345 7,764 
  Customer tooling 561 425 
  Taxes other than on income 479 401 
  Insurance 641 372 
  Professional 487 242 
  Other     779      833  
   
Total $16,182  $16,240  
 
 
Note 6 – Long-term Debt: 
 

    December 31,    
  2010   2011  

 (In thousands)  
   
Revolving bank credit facility   $ 3,000   $ 1,955  
Note payable to affiliate  42,230   22,230  
   
Total debt 45,230 24,185  
Less current maturities   1,000    1,000  
   
Total long-term debt $44,230  $23,185  

 
 
Revolving bank credit facility.  At December 31, 2011 we had a $37.5 million 

revolving bank credit facility that matured in Janu ary 2012.  We had net borrowings 
of $3.0 million under the credit facility in 2010, which was repaid in February 2011.  
In July 2011, we borrowed the equivalent of approxi mately $5.3 million under the 
credit facility in connection with the acquisition discussed in Note 2 (such 
borrowing was denominated in Canadian dollars, as p ermitted by the terms of the 
credit facility), and we subsequently repaid the eq uivalent of $2.9 million of such 
borrowing during the remainder of 2011.  The intere st rate on the $2.0 million 
outstanding under the credit facility at December 3 1, 2011 was 4.4%.  We were in 
compliance with all covenants of the credit facilit y at December 31, 2011. 
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In January 2012, we amended and restated the terms of the credit facility to 

extend the maturity date to January 2015 and to red uce the size of the facility from 
$37.5 million to $30.0 million.  Any amounts outsta nding under the credit facility 
bear interest at LIBOR plus a margin of 2.25%.  The  credit facility is collateralized 
by 65% of the ownership interests in our first-tier  non-U.S. subsidiaries.  The 
facility contains certain covenants and restriction s customary in lending 
transactions of this type, which among other things  restricts our ability to incur 
debt, incur liens, pay dividends or merge or consol idate with, or transfer all or 
substantially all assets to, another entity.  The f acility also requires maintenance 
of specified levels of net worth (as defined in the  agreement).  In the event of a 
change of control, as defined in the agreement, the  lenders would have the right to 
accelerate the maturity of the facility.  The credi t facility permits us to pay 
dividends and/or repurchase common stock in an amou nt equal to the sum of $.125 per 
share in any calendar quarter, not to exceed $8.0 m illion in any calendar year.  At 
December 31, 2011, and based on the new $30 million  size of the amended and restated 
credit facility, approximately $28.0 million was av ailable for borrowings.  Because 
the amended and restated credit facility extended t he maturity date of our prior 
credit facility, we have classified the $2.0 millio n outstanding at December 31, 2011 
under our prior credit facility as a noncurrent lia bility at such date.     

 
Note payable to affiliate.  In October 2007, we purchased and/or cancelled a 

net 2.7 million shares of our Class A common stock from Timet Finance Management 
Company (“TFMC”).  TFMC is a wholly-owned subsidiar y of Titanium Metals Corporation, 
one of our affiliates.  We purchased and/or cancell ed these shares for $19.50 per 
share, or aggregate consideration of $52.6 million,  which we paid in the form of a 
promissory note.  The promissory note, as amended, bears interest at LIBOR plus 1% 
(1.4% at December 31, 2011) and provides for quarte rly principal repayments of 
$250,000, with the balance due at maturity in Septe mber 2014.  The promissory note is 
prepayable, in whole or in part, at any time at our  option without penalty.  The 
promissory note is subordinated to our amended and restated U.S. revolving bank 
credit facility, although we are permitted to make future principal prepayments not 
to exceed $15 million in the aggregate.  The promis sory note was amended in September 
2009 resulting in the deferral of interest payments  until March 2011 and the 
postponement of the quarterly principal repayments until March 2011.  We had net 
repayments on the note payable to affiliate of $750 ,000 in 2009, nil in 2010 and $20 
million in 2011, including $15.0 million of prepaym ents in 2011 using cash we 
received upon collection of our promissory note rec eivable.  See Note 12.  We 
recognized interest expense of approximately $816,0 00 in 2009, $565,000 in 2010 and 
$464,000 in 2011 on the promissory note.   

 
The scheduled principal repayments of the revolving  bank credit facility and 

the promissory note are shown in the table below. 
 
 

 Years ending December 31,  Amount  
 (In thousands) 
  
      2012 $ 1,000   
      2013 1,000 
      2014 20,230 
      2015 1,955 
      2016 -  
      Thereafter      -  
  
 Total $24,185  
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Note 7 - Income taxes: 
 

The components of pre-tax income, the provision for  income taxes, the 
difference between the provision for income taxes a nd the amount that would be 
expected using the U.S. federal statutory income ta x rate of 35%, and the 
comprehensive provision for income taxes are presen ted below. 

 
   Years ended December 31,   
   2009     2010     2011   
 (In thousands) 
Components of pre-tax income (loss):    
  United States $(3,063)  $4,135 $ 5,088 
  Non-U.S.  (1,988)   4,661   10,005  
    
Total $(5,051)  $8,796  $15,093  
    
    
Provision (benefit) for income taxes:    
  Currently payable (refundable):    
    U.S. federal and state $  (271)  $4,889 $ 2,892 
    Foreign    (694 )   1,611    2,547  
    
    
    (965)   6,500    5,439  
  Deferred income taxes (benefit):    
    U.S. federal and state (1,992)  (717)  1,995 
    Foreign    (101 )     (39 )      (14 )  
    
  (2,093 )    (756 )    1,981  
    
Total $(3,058 )  $5,744  $ 7,420  
    
Expected tax expense (benefit), at the U.S.  
  federal statutory income tax rate of 35% 

 
$(1,768)  

 
$3,079 

 
$ 5,282 

Non-U.S. tax rates 74 (424)  (994)  
Incremental U.S. tax on earnings of foreign 
  subsidiaries 

 
(1,092)  

 
3,439 

 
2,799 

State income taxes and other, net 3 218 391 
Impact of tax rate changes (76)  (46)  43 
Tax credits (199)  (522)  (442)  
Valuation allowance      -      -      341  
    
Total $(3,058 )  $5,744  $ 7,420  
    
 

In the first quarter of 2011, we recognized a $2.1 million provision for 
deferred income taxes related to the undistributed earnings of our Canadian 
subsidiary attributable to the $7.5 million patent litigation settlement gain 
discussed in Note 13. 

 
Under GAAP, we are required to recognize a deferred  income tax liability with 

respect to the incremental U.S. (federal and state)  and foreign withholding taxes 
that would be incurred when undistributed earnings of a foreign subsidiary are 
subsequently repatriated, unless management has det ermined that those undistributed 
earnings are permanently reinvested for the foresee able future. Prior to March 31, 
2010, we had not recognized a deferred income tax l iability related to incremental 
income taxes on the pre-2005 undistributed earnings  of our Taiwanese subsidiary, as 
those earnings were deemed to be permanently reinve sted.  We are required to 
reassess the permanent reinvestment conclusion on a n ongoing basis to determine if 
our intentions have changed.  At the end of March 2 010, and based primarily upon 
changes in our cash management plans, we determined  that all of the undistributed 
earnings of our Taiwanese subsidiary could no longe r be considered to be permanently 
reinvested in Taiwan.  Accordingly, in the first qu arter of 2010 we recognized an 
aggregate $1.9 million provision for deferred incom e taxes on the pre-2005 
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undistributed earnings of our Taiwanese subsidiary.   Consequently, all of the 
undistributed earnings of our non-U.S. operations a re now considered to be not 
permanently reinvested. 
 

The components of net deferred tax assets (liabilit ies) are summarized below. 
 
    December 31,    
   2010    2011  
 (In thousands) 
Tax effect of temporary differences related to:   
  Inventories $  1,303 $    932 
  Tax on unremitted earnings of non-U.S. subsidiari es (5,198)  (7,671) 
  Property and equipment (4,916)  (3,971) 
  Accrued liabilities and other deductible differen ces 171 164 
  Accrued employee benefits 893 1,412 
  Tax loss and credit carryforwards 472 494 
  Goodwill (1,958)  (2,179) 
  Other taxable differences (277)  (511) 
  Valuation allowance       -      (341 )  
   
Total $ (9,510 )  $(11,671 ) 
   
Net current deferred tax assets 2,366 2,495 
Net noncurrent deferred tax liabilities  (11,876 )   (14,166 ) 
   
Total $ (9,510 )  $(11,671 ) 
   
 

Our tax loss carryforwards at December 31, 2010 and  2011 relates to 
carryforwards in various U.S. state jurisdictions.  At December 31, 2011, we had 
approximately $5.7 million of such state net operat ing loss carryforwards with 
expiration dates ranging from 2016 to 2031.  At Dec ember 31, 2011, we have concluded 
that a portion of our U.S. state net operating loss es do not meet the more-likely-
than-not recognition criteria, accordingly we have recognized a deferred income tax 
asset valuation allowance of $341,000 with respect to such carryforwards.  
 

We file income tax returns in various U.S. federal,  state and local 
jurisdictions.  We also file income tax returns in various foreign jurisdictions, 
principally in Canada and Taiwan.  Our domestic inc ome tax returns prior to 2008 are 
generally considered closed to examination by appli cable tax authorities.  Our 
foreign income tax returns are generally considered  closed to examination for years 
prior to 2006 for Taiwan, and 2007 for Canada. 
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Note 8 – Stockholders’ equity: 
 

  Shares of common stock   
   Class A    Class B  
 Issued and 

outstanding  
Issued and 

outstanding  
   
Balance at December 31, 2008 2,361,307  10,000,00 0  
   
  Issued     9,000     -  
   
Balance at December 31, 2009 2,370,307  10,000,000   
   
  Issued     5,000     -  
   
Balance at December 31, 2010 2,375,307  10,000,000  
   
  Issued    10,800    -  
   
Balance at December 31, 2011 2,386,107   10,000,000  
   

 
Class A and Class B common stock.  The shares of Class A common stock and Class 

B common stock are identical in all respects, excep t for certain voting rights and 
certain conversion rights in respect of the shares of the Class B common stock.  
Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one  vote per share.  NL, which holds 
all of the outstanding shares of Class B common sto ck, is entitled to one vote per 
share in all matters except for election of directo rs, for which NL is entitled to 
ten votes per share.  Holders of all classes of com mon stock entitled to vote will 
vote together as a single class on all matters pres ented to the stockholders for 
their vote or approval, except as otherwise require d by applicable law.  Each share 
of Class A common stock and Class B common stock ha ve an equal and ratable right to 
receive dividends to be paid from our assets when, and if declared by the board of 
directors.  In the event of the dissolution, liquid ation or winding up of our 
operations, the holders of Class A common stock and  Class B common stock will be 
entitled to share equally and ratably in the assets  available for distribution after 
payments are made to our creditors and to the holde rs of any of our preferred stock 
that may be outstanding at the time.  Shares of the  Class A common stock have no 
conversion rights.  Under certain conditions, share s of Class B common stock will 
convert, on a share-for-share basis, into shares of  Class A common stock. 
 

Share repurchases and cancellations.  Prior to 2009, our board of directors 
authorized various repurchases of shares of our Cla ss A common stock in open market 
transactions, including block purchases, or in priv ately-negotiated transactions at 
unspecified prices and over an unspecified period o f time.  We may repurchase our 
common stock from time to time as market conditions  permit.  The stock repurchase 
program does not include specific price targets or timetables and may be suspended 
at any time.  Depending on market conditions, we ma y terminate the program prior to 
its completion.  We will generally use cash on hand  to acquire the shares.  
Repurchased shares will be added to our treasury an d cancelled.  We made no treasury 
purchases during 2009, 2010 or 2011 and at December  31, 2011, approximately 678,000 
shares were available for purchase under these auth orizations. 
 

Incentive compensation plan.  The CompX International Inc. 1997 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) provides for the award or grant of stock options, stock 
appreciation rights, performance grants and other a wards to employees and other 
individuals who provide services to us.  Up to 1.5 million shares of Class A Common 
Stock may be issued pursuant to the Plan.  Employee  stock options are granted at 
prices not less than the market price of our stock on the date of grant, vest over 
five years and expire ten years from the date of gr ant.  The following table sets 
forth changes in outstanding options during the pas t three years.   
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Shares  

 
Exercise 

price per 
   share    

Amount 
payable 

upon 
exercise  

Weighted  
average 

exercise  
 price  

 (In 000’s)   (In 000’s)   
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2008  134  $12.15 – 19. 25 $ 2,343 $17.49 
     
Canceled  (53 )   15.88 - 18.38     (936 )  17.66  
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2009   81  $12.15 – 19. 25 $ 1,407 $17.37 
     
Canceled  (63 )   18.38 - 19.25   (1,168 )  18.54  
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2010   18  $12.15 – 14. 30 $   239 $13.28 
     
Exercised  (5) 12.15  (58)  12.15 
Canceled   (4 )     12.15         (49 )  12.15  
     
Outstanding at December 31, 2011    9     $14.30     $   132  $14.30  

 
 
Outstanding options at December 31, 2011 represent less than 1% of our total 

outstanding shares of common stock at that date and  expire in May 2012.  Our market 
price per share at December 31, 2011 was $14.73.  A ll of the fully-vested 9,200 
outstanding options at December 31, 2011 were exerc isable at $14.30 with a nominal 
aggregate intrinsic value (defined as the excess of  the market price of our common 
stock over the exercise price).  At December 31, 20 11, an aggregate of 978,820 
shares were available for future grants.  Shares is sued under the Plan are generally 
newly-issued shares.  The intrinsic value and relat ed income tax benefit of our 
options exercised in 2011 was insignificant.  No st ock options were exercised in 2009 
or 2010. 

 
In February 2012, our board of directors voted to r eplace the compensation plan 

with a new plan pursuant to which an aggregate of 2 00,000 shares of our common stock 
can be awarded to members of our board of directors .  The new plan is subject to 
shareholders’ approval at our May 2012 shareholder meeting. 

 
 
Note 9 – Facility consolidation costs: 
 

In November 2010, management approved a restructuri ng plan for our Furniture 
Components segment to move precision slide producti on from our Byron Center, 
Michigan facility to our other precision slide manu facturing facilities in 
Kitchener, Ontario and Taipei, Taiwan.  The move, w hich was substantially completed 
in April 2011, reduced the facilities where we prod uce precision slides from three 
to two and is expected to enhance the operating eff iciency of our precision slide 
production capacity.  As of December 31, 2011, appr oximately $191,000 of severance 
costs and approximately $2.0 million of machinery a nd equipment relocation costs 
from the Byron Center facility to the Kitchener fac ility had been expensed, mostly 
in the first six months of 2011.  No additional sev erance and equipment relocation 
costs are expected to be incurred subsequent to Dec ember 31, 2011. 

 
At the time management approved the Furniture Compo nents restructuring 

discussed above in November 2010, we intended to co ntinue to utilize the Byron 
Center facility for light assembly and warehousing of product to service our U.S. 
customers.  After operating the facility from the f irst quarter of 2011 to the 
latter part of the third quarter of 2011, we determ ined that continued use of the 
Byron Center facility for warehousing and light ass embly was no longer necessary to 
serve our U.S. customers.  Accordingly, in Septembe r 2011 management made the 
decision to sell the facility, at which time such f acility met all of the criteria 
under GAAP to be classified as an “asset held for s ale.” (See Note 10)   
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Note 10 – Assets held for sale: 
 
 
    December 31,  
  2010   2011  
 (In thousands) 
   
Byron Center facility $   -  $4,444  
River Grove facility 2,000 1,775 
Neenah land    415     430  
 
Total Assets Held for Sale 

 
$2,415  

 
$6,649  

 
At December 31, 2011 our assets held for sale consi sted of the Byron Center 

and River Grove facilities (land, building and buil ding improvements) and the Neenah 
land, all of which were formerly used in our operat ions.  These assets were 
classified as “assets held for sale” when they ceas ed to be used in our operations 
and met all of the applicable criteria under GAAP.  The Byron Center facility became 
classified as held for sale in September 2011, as d iscussed in Note 9. In 
classifying the Byron Center facility as held for s ale, we concluded that the 
carrying amount of the assets exceeded the estimate d fair value less costs to sell 
such assets. In determining the estimated fair valu e of the land and building, we 
obtained an independent appraisal. Based on this ap praisal, we recognized a write-
down of $910,000 in 2011 to reduce the carrying val ue of the asset to its estimated 
fair value less cost to sell. 

 
Additionally, in 2011 due to continued negative loc al market conditions, we 

obtained an updated independent appraisal for the R iver Grove facility, the most 
significant of the remaining two properties.  Based  on this appraisal, we recognized 
an additional write-down of $225,000 in 2011 to red uce the carrying value of that 
asset to its estimated fair value less cost to sell .   

 
These write-downs as of December 31, 2011 totaled $ 1.1 million and are included 

in corporate operating expense.  We also recognized  other asset held for sale 
writedowns of $717,000 in 2009 and $500,000 in 2010  related to these properties, 
associated with obtaining updated appraisals on suc h properties.  These appraisals 
represent a Level 2 input as defined by ASC 820-10- 35.  All three properties are 
being actively marketed; however, due to the curren t state of the commercial real 
estate market, we cannot be certain of the timing o f the disposition of these assets 
or the potential for future write-downs associated with these assets. 
 

 
Note 11 – Other non-operating income, net: 
 
   Years ended December 31,   
   2009     2010    2011   
 (In thousands) 
    
Interest income $ 43 $345 $373 
Other income (expense), net    2    34    51  
    
Total $ 45  $379  $424  
    
 
 
Note 12 - Related party transactions: 
 

We may be deemed to be controlled by Harold C. Simm ons.  See Note 1.  
Corporations that may be deemed to be controlled by  or affiliated with Mr. Simmons 
sometimes engage in (a) intercorporate transactions  such as guarantees, management 
and expense sharing arrangements, shared fee arrang ements, joint ventures, 
partnerships, loans, options, advances of funds on open account, and sales, leases 
and exchanges of assets, including securities issue d by both related and unrelated 



 

 
F-24 

parties and (b) common investment and acquisition s trategies, business combinations, 
reorganizations, recapitalizations, securities repu rchases, and purchases and sales 
(and other acquisitions and dispositions) of subsid iaries, divisions or other 
business units, which transactions have involved bo th related and unrelated parties 
and have included transactions that resulted in the  acquisition by one related party 
of a publicly-held minority equity interest in anot her related party.  We 
continuously consider, review and evaluate, and und erstand that Contran and related 
entities consider, review and evaluate such transac tions.  Depending upon the 
business, tax and other objectives then relevant, i t is possible that we might be a 
party to one or more such transactions in the futur e. 

 
From time to time, we will have loans and advances outstanding between us and 

various related parties pursuant to term and demand  notes.  We generally enter into 
these loans and advances for cash management purpos es.  When we loan funds to related 
parties, we are generally able to earn a higher rat e of return on the loan than we 
would earn if we invested the funds in other instru ments.  While certain of these 
loans may be of a lesser credit quality than cash e quivalent instruments otherwise 
available to us, we believe we have evaluated the c redit risks in the terms of the 
applicable loans.  In this regard, in February 2010  we entered into an unsecured 
revolving demand promissory note with NL whereby we  agreed to loan NL up to $8.0 
million.  As amended, our loans to NL will bear int erest at the prime rate less .75%, 
with all principal due on demand on or after March 31, 2013 (and in any event no 
later than December 31, 2013), with interest payabl e quarterly.  The principal amount 
we lend to NL at any time is at our discretion. As of December 31, 2010 and 2011, we 
had no loans outstanding to NL.  Interest income on  our loans to NL was $23,000 in 
2010. 

 
In May 2010, we purchased from NL and one of its wh olly-owned subsidiaries, 

for $15.0 million in cash, all of their right, titl e and interest in (i) a 
subordinated secured mortgage note receivable dated  October 15, 2008 and in the 
original principal amount of $15.0 million executed  by Sayreville Seaport 
Associates, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, a nd originally payable to NL and 
its subsidiary, and (ii) certain other documents re lated to the note receivable.  We 
purchased the promissory note for our investment pu rposes.   The promissory note 
bore interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%, payable monthly,  and all principal was due no 
later than October 2011.  We amended our bank credi t facility in May 2010 to enable 
us to borrow $5.0 million under the Credit Agreemen t, which we utilized along with 
$10.0 million of existing cash to complete the purc hase of the note receivable.  The 
purchase was also approved by the independent membe rs of our board of directors.  In 
October 2011, we collected in full the $15.0 millio n principal amount due to us 
under our promissory note receivable.  See Note 6. 
 

Under the terms of an Intercorporate Service Agreem ent (“ISA”) with Contran, 
employees of Contran perform certain management, ta x planning, financial, legal and 
administrative services for us on a fee basis.  Suc h fees are based upon estimates of 
time devoted to our affairs by individual Contran e mployees and the compensation of 
such persons.  Because of the large number of compa nies affiliated with Contran, we 
believe we benefit from cost savings and economies of scale gained by not having 
certain management, financial and administrative st affs duplicated at each entity, 
thus allowing certain individuals to provide servic es to multiple companies but only 
be compensated by one entity.  Fees pursuant to the se agreements aggregated $3.2 
million in 2009, $3.1 million in 2010 and $3.4 mill ion in 2011.  
 

Tall Pines Insurance Company (“Tall Pines”) and EWI  RE, Inc. (“EWI”) provide 
for or broker certain insurance policies for Contra n and certain of its subsidiaries 
and affiliates, including us.  Tall Pines and EWI a re subsidiaries of Valhi.  
Consistent with insurance industry practices, Tall Pines and EWI receive commissions 
from the insurance and reinsurance underwriters and /or assess fees for the policies 
that they provide or broker.  The aggregate premium s we paid to Tall Pines and EWI 
were approximately $1.1 million in 2009 and 2010 an d $1.3 million in 2011.  These 
amounts principally included payments for insurance , but also included commissions 
paid to Tall Pines and EWI.  Tall Pines purchases r einsurance from third-party  
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insurance carriers with an A.M. Best Company rating  of generally at least A- 
(Excellent) for substantially all of the risks it u nderwrites. We expect that these 
relationships with Tall Pines and EWI will continue  in 2012. 
 

Contran and certain of its subsidiaries and affilia tes, including us, purchase 
certain of their insurance policies as a group, wit h the costs of the jointly-owned 
policies being apportioned among the participating companies.  With respect to 
certain of these policies, it is possible that unus ually large losses incurred by one 
or more insureds during a given policy period could  leave the other participating 
companies without adequate coverage under that poli cy for the balance of the policy 
period.  As a result, Contran and certain of its su bsidiaries and affiliates, 
including us, have entered into a loss sharing agre ement under which any uninsured 
loss is shared by those entities who have submitted  claims under the relevant policy.  
We believe the benefits in the form of reduced prem iums and broader coverage 
associated with the group coverage for such policie s justifies the risk associated 
with the potential for any uninsured loss. 
 
 
Note 13 - Commitments and contingencies:  
 

Legal proceedings.  We are involved, from time to time, in various 
contractual, product liability, patent (or intellec tual property), employment and 
other claims and disputes incidental to our busines s.  Prior to March 9, 2011, we 
were involved in certain patent litigation with a c ompetitor, and in March 2011, we 
entered into a confidential settlement agreement wi th the competitor.  Under the 
terms of the agreement, the competitor paid our Can adian subsidiary approximately 
$7.5 million in cash (which is recognized as a liti gation settlement gain in 2011), 
and we each agreed to cross-license certain patents  and to withdraw certain legal 
proceedings against the other party.   

 
We currently believe the disposition of all claims and disputes, individually 

or in the aggregate, should not have a material lon g-term adverse effect on our 
consolidated financial condition, results of operat ions or liquidity. 

 
Environmental matters and litigation.  Our operations are governed by various 

federal, state, local and foreign environmental law s and regulations.  Our policy is 
to comply with environmental laws and regulations a t all of our plants and to 
continually strive to improve environmental perform ance in association with 
applicable industry initiatives.  We believe that o ur operations are in substantial 
compliance with applicable requirements of environm ental laws.  From time to time, 
we may be subject to environmental regulatory enfor cement under various statutes, 
resolution of which typically involves the establis hment of compliance programs. 

 
Income taxes.  From time to time, we undergo examinations of our i ncome tax 

returns, and tax authorities have or may propose ta x deficiencies.  We believe that 
we have adequately provided accruals for additional  income taxes and related interest 
expense which may ultimately result from such exami nations and we believe that the 
ultimate disposition of all such examinations shoul d not have a material adverse 
effect on our consolidated financial position, resu lts of operations or liquidity. 
 

We have agreed to a policy with Contran and NL prov iding for the allocation of 
tax liabilities and tax payments as described in No te 1.  Under applicable law, we, 
as well as every other member of the Contran Tax Gr oup, are each jointly and 
severally liable for the aggregate federal income t ax liability of Contran and the 
other companies included in the Contran Tax Group f or all periods in which we are 
included in the Contran Tax Group.  NL has agreed, however, to indemnify us for any 
liability for income taxes of the Contran Tax Group  in excess of our tax liability  
in accordance with the tax allocation policy. 

 
Concentration of credit risk.  Our products are sold primarily in North 

America to original equipment manufacturers.  The t en largest customers accounted 
for approximately 39% of sales in 2009, 38% in 2010  and 37% in 2011.  No customer 
accounted for more than 10% of our sales in 2009, 2 010 or 2011.   
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Rent expense, principally for buildings, was $478,0 00 in 2009, $464,000 in 
2010 and $427,000 in 2011.  At December 31, 2011, f uture minimum rentals under 
noncancellable operating leases are shown below.   

 
 Years ending December 31,  Amount  
 (In thousands) 
  
     2012 $  397 
     2013 368 
     2014   118  
     2015 111 
     2016   74 
 Thereafter      7  
  
 Total $1,075    
 
 
Note 14 – Financial instruments:  
 

The following table presents the carrying value and  estimated fair value of 
our financial instruments: 

 
 December 31, December 31, 
        2010                2011        
 Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
  amount   value   amount   value  
     
Cash and cash equivalents $13,919 $13,919 $10,081 $ 10,081 
Accounts receivable, net 14,601 14,601 14,246 14,24 6 
Promissory note receivable 15,000 15,000 -  -  
     
Accounts payable 4,890 4,890 6,203 6,203 
Variable rate long-term debt – 
(including current maturities) 

 
45,230 

 
45,230 

 
24,185 

 
24,185 

     
 
Due to their near-term maturities, the carrying amo unts of accounts receivable 

and accounts payable are considered equivalent to f air value.  The fair values of 
our variable-rate promissory note receivable and lo ng-term debt are deemed to 
approximate book value.  The fair values of our pro missory note receivable and long-
term debt are Level 2 inputs as defined by ASC Topi c 820-10-35.   
 

We periodically use currency forward contracts to m anage a portion of currency 
exchange rate market risk associated with receivabl es, or similar exchange rate risk 
associated with future sales, denominated in a curr ency other than the holder's 
functional currency.  We have not entered into thes e contracts for trading or 
speculative purposes in the past, nor do we anticip ate entering into such contracts 
for trading or speculative purposes in the future.  Most of our currency forward 
contracts meet the criteria for hedge accounting un der GAAP and are designated as 
cash flow hedges.  For these currency forward contr acts, gains and losses 
representing the effective portion of our hedges ar e deferred as a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income, and are sub sequently recognized in earnings 
at the time the hedged item affects earnings.  Occa sionally, we enter into currency 
forward contracts which do not meet the criteria fo r hedge accounting.  For these 
contracts, we  mark-to-market the estimated fair va lue of the contracts at each 
balance sheet date based on quoted market prices fo r the forward contracts, with any 
resulting gain or loss recognized in income current ly as part of net currency 
transactions.  The quoted market prices for the for ward contracts are a Level 1 
input as defined by ASC Topic 820-10-35 .   

 
At December 31, 2011, we held a series of contracts  to exchange an aggregate 

of U.S. $17.9 million for an equivalent value of Ca nadian dollars at exchange rates 
ranging from Cdn. $1.03 to Cdn. $0.99  per U.S. dol lar.  These contracts qualified 
for hedge accounting and mature through December 20 12.  The exchange rate was $1.02 
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per U.S. dollar at December 31, 2011.  The estimate d fair value of the contracts 
based on quoted market prices was a liability of ap proximately $19,000 at December 
31, 2011.  We had no currency forward contracts out standing at December 31, 2010. 
 
 
Note 15 – Recent accounting pronouncements: 
 

In May 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Boar d issued Accounting 
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2011-04, Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value 
Measurements and Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs.  ASU 2011-04 
contains technical adjustments and clarifications t o more closely align the U.S. GAAP 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (“I FRS”) for fair value and will be 
effective for our first quarter 2012 report.  We do  not believe the adoption of this 
standard will have a material effect on our Consoli dated Financial Statements. 
 

In June 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive 
Income.  ASU 2011-05 eliminates the option of presenting comprehensive income as a 
component of the Consolidated Statement of Sharehol ders’ Equity and instead requires 
comprehensive income to be presented as a component  of the Consolidated Statement of 
Income or in a separate Consolidated Statement of C omprehensive Income immediately 
following the Consolidated Statement of Income.  Th is standard will be effective for 
our first quarter 2012 report, we intend to present  our comprehensive income in a 
separate Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive In come, the same manner in which we 
present our comprehensive income in these Consolida ted Financial Statements.   

 
Additionally, ASU 2011-05 would have required us to  present on the face of our 

financial statements the effect of reclassification s out of accumulative other 
comprehensive income on the components of net incom e and other comprehensive income. 
However, in December 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011- 12, Comprehensive Income (Topic 
220): Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of 
Reclassifications of Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in 
Accounting Standards Update No. 2011-05.  ASU 2011-12 defers the effectiveness for 
the requirement to present on the face of our finan cial statements the effects of 
reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehe nsive income on the components of 
net income and other comprehensive income.  Adoptio n of ASU 2011-05, as amended by 
ASU 2011-12, will not have a material effect on our  Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  

 
In September 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-08 Testing Goodwill for Impairment 

(the revised standard).  ASU 2011-08 provides the o ption to first assess 
qualitatively whether events or circumstances exist  to indicate goodwill impairment 
may be present to determine whether further impairm ent testing is necessary.  This 
standard will be effective for annual and interim g oodwill testing beginning with our 
first quarter 2012 report, although early adoption is permitted.  We do not believe 
the adoption of this standard will have a material effect on our Consolidated 
Financial Statements and we did not avail ourselves  of the qualitative goodwill 
impairment assessment as part of our 2011 annual go odwill impairment analysis which 
was performed in the third quarter.  
 

In December 2011 the FASB issued ASU 2011-11 Disclosures about Offsetting 
Assets and Liabilities.  ASU 2011-11 requires entities to disclose both g ross 
information and net information about both instrume nts and transactions eligible for 
offset in the balance sheet and instruments and tra nsactions subject to an agreement 
similar to a master netting arrangement.    This standard will be effective for 
annual and interim periods beginning with our first  quarter 2013 report.  We do not 
believe the adoption of this standard will have a m aterial effect on our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  
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Note 16 – Quarterly results of operations (unaudite d): 
 
             Quarter ended             
 March 31  June 30  Sept. 30  Dec. 31  
 (In millions, except per share amounts) 
2010:     
  Net sales $32.8 $34.4 $35.7 $32.3 
  Gross profit 9.1 8.9 9.7 8.3 
  Operating income  1.7 2.9 3.1 (b)  1.5 
  Net income (loss) (1.0) (a) 1.7 1.7 0.6 
     
  Basic and diluted earnings (loss) 
    per share 

 
$ (.08)  

 
$  .14 

 
$  .13 

 
$ .05 

 
 
2011:     
  Net sales $34.8 $35.2 $35.7 $33.1 
  Gross profit 8.7 9.8 8.5 8.1 
  Operating income 8.8 (c)  3.1 1.5 (b)  2.1 
  Net income 4.0 (c)  1.6 1.1 1.0 
     
  Basic and diluted earnings per share $ .32 $  .13  $  .09 $ .08 
 

The sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not equal the annual per share 
amounts due to relative changes in the weighted-ave rage number of shares used in the 
per share computations. 
 

(a) Includes a $1.9 million provision for deferred income taxes on pre-2005 
undistributed earnings of our Taiwanese subsidiary.   See Note 7 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

(b) Includes a $500,000 and a $1.1 million write-do wn on assets held for sale 
in the third quarters of 2010 and 2011, respectivel y. 

(c) We recorded a patent litigation settlement gain  of $7.5 million ($3.4 
million net of income taxes) in the first quarter o f 2011.  See Note 13. 
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